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SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY

 
In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context requires otherwise, references to the “Company”, “Scilex”, “we”, “us”, “our”, and similar terms 
refer to Scilex Holding Company, a Delaware corporation formerly known as Vickers Vantage Corp. I (“Vickers”), and its consolidated subsidiaries. 
References to “Legacy Scilex” refer to the private Delaware corporation that is now our wholly owned subsidiary and named Scilex, Inc. (formerly known 
as “Scilex Holding Company”). 
 
On November 10, 2022, we consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of 
March 17, 2022 (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 12, 2022, together, the “Merger Agreement”), by 
and among Vickers, Vantage Merger Sub Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Vickers, and Legacy Scilex. Pursuant to the terms of the 
Merger Agreement, the business combination (herein referred to as the “Business Combination” or “reverse recapitalization” for accounting purposes) 
between Vickers and Legacy Scilex was effected through the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy Scilex with Legacy Scilex surviving as Vickers’s 
wholly owned subsidiary. In connection with the Business Combination, Vickers changed its name from Vickers Vantage Corp. I to Scilex Holding 
Company. 
 
Unless otherwise noted or the context requires otherwise, references to our “Common Stock” refer to our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share.
 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may constitute “forward-looking statements” for purposes of federal securities laws. 
Such statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Forward-looking statements appear in a number 
of places in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q including, without limitation, in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.” In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or 
circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by words such 
as “plan,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “contemplate,” “intend,” “outlook,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “project,” “continue,” “could,” “may,” “might,” “possible,” 
“potential,” “predict,” “should,” “will,” “would” and other similar words and expressions (including the negative of any of the foregoing), but the absence of 
these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.
 
These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our management’s 
current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other factors, 
many of which are outside the control of the Company and our directors, officers and affiliates. There can be no assurance that future developments will 
be those that have been anticipated. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsequent 
date.
 
These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties or other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be 
materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, 
those factors described in “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 12, 
2024 (the “Annual Report on Form 10-K”), as updated by the risk factors described under the heading “Risk Factors” in Part II - Item 1A of this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may include, but are not limited to, statements about:
 

•our ability to maintain the listing of our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market; 
•our public securities’ liquidity and trading; 
•our ability to raise financing in the future;
•our future use of equity or debt financings to execute our business strategy;
•our ability to use cash on hand to meet current and future financial obligations, including funding our operations, debt service requirements and 
capital expenditures;
•the outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against us; 
•our ability to attract and retain qualified directors, officers, employees and key personnel; 
•our ability to compete effectively in a highly competitive market; 
•the competition from larger biotechnology companies that have greater resources, technology, relationships and/or expertise; 
•the ability to protect and enhance our corporate reputation and brand; 
•the impact from future regulatory, judicial and legislative changes in our industry; 
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•our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of any of our product candidates; 
•our ability to research, discover and develop additional product candidates; 
•our ability to grow and manage growth profitably; 
•our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection and not infringe on the rights of others;
•our ability to execute our business plans and strategy;
•our ability to prevent, respond to, and recover from a cybersecurity incident;
•the effect of global economic and political developments, including the conflicts in Ukraine and Israel;
•the impact of COVID-19 and other similar disruptions in the future; and 
•other factors detailed under the section titled “Risk Factors” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, as updated by the risk factors described in the 
section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q titled “Risk Factors.” 

 
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize or should any of the assumptions made by our management prove incorrect, actual results 
may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Some of these risks and uncertainties may in the future be 
amplified by COVID-19 (or other similar disruptions), and there may be additional risks that we consider immaterial or which are unknown. It is not 
possible to predict or identify all such risks. We do not undertake any obligation to update, add or to otherwise correct any forward-looking statements 
contained herein to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events, inaccuracies 
that become apparent after the date hereof or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except for par value and share amounts) 
(Unaudited)

  
March 31,

2024   
December 31,

2023  
ASSETS       

Current assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,818   $ 3,921  
Accounts receivable, net   29,716    34,597  
Inventory   3,486    4,214  
Prepaid expenses and other   2,725    4,049  

Total current assets:   37,745    46,781  
Property and equipment, net   718    722  
Operating lease right-of-use asset   2,763    2,943  
Intangibles, net   35,458    36,485  
Goodwill   13,481    13,481  
Other long-term assets   1,075    897  

Total assets  $ 91,240   $ 101,309  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT       

Current liabilities:       
Accounts payable  $ 42,219   $ 40,954  
Accrued payroll   3,727    2,681  
Accrued rebates and fees   104,088    89,658  
Accrued expenses   8,564    7,408  
Current portion of deferred consideration   480    491  
Debt, current   92,923    108,429  
Current portion of operating lease liabilities   731    759  

Total current liabilities:   252,732    250,380  
Long-term portion of deferred consideration   2,780    2,895  
Debt, net of issuance costs   16,323    17,038  
Derivative liabilities   6,941    1,518  
Operating lease liabilities   2,068    2,237  
Other long-term liabilities   182    179  

Total liabilities  $ 281,026   $ 274,247  
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 11)       
Stockholders’ deficit:       

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 45,000,000 shares authorized; 29,057,097 shares issued and 
outstanding as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

 
 —    —  

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 740,000,000 shares authorized; 166,189,835 shares issued and 
106,121,250 shares outstanding as of March 31, 2024; 160,084,250 shares issued and 100,015,665 shares 
outstanding as of December 31, 2023

 
 17    16  

Additional paid-in capital   415,341    407,813  
Accumulated deficit   (514,622 )   (490,245 )
Treasury stock, at cost; 60,068,585 shares as of each of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023   (90,522 )   (90,522 )
Total stockholders’ deficit   (189,786 )   (172,938 )
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit  $ 91,240   $ 101,309  
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements

 
1



 

SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except for share and net loss per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2024   2023  
Net revenue  $ 10,884   $ 10,582  
Operating costs and expenses:       

Cost of revenue   3,840    3,591  
Research and development   3,108    2,736  
Selling, general and administrative   29,278    28,701  
Intangible amortization   1,027    1,027  
Legal settlements   (6,891 )   —  

Total operating costs and expenses   30,362    36,055  
Loss from operations   (19,478 )   (25,473 )

Other (income) expense:       
Loss on derivative liability   457    5,253  
Change in fair value of debt and liability instruments   3,905    —  
Interest expense, net   531    (1 )
Loss on foreign currency exchange   6    20  

Total other expense   4,899    5,272  
Loss before income taxes   (24,377 )   (30,745 )
Income tax expense   —    8  
Net loss  $ (24,377 )  $ (30,753 )
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — basic and diluted  $ (0.24 )  $ (0.22 )
Weighted average number of shares during the period — basic and diluted   102,407    141,660  
 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
 

 Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additiona

l   Accumulated   Treasury Stock   
Stockholder

s’  

 Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   
Paid-in 
Capital   Deficit   Shares   Amount   Deficit  

Balance, December 31, 2023  29,057    —    160,084   $ 16   $ 407,813   $ (490,245 )   60,069   $ (90,522 )  $ (172,938 )
Shares issued under Standby 
Equity Purchase Agreements 
and under ATM Sales 
Agreement  —    —    189    —    156    —    —    —    156  
Shares issued under Bought 
Deal Offering  —    —    5,882    1    3,768    —    —    —    3,769  
Stock options exercised  —    —    35    —    46    —    —    —    46  
Stock-based compensation  —    —    —    —    3,558    —    —    —    3,558  
Net loss  —    —    —    —    —    (24,377 )   —    —    (24,377 )
Balance, March 31, 2024  29,057   $ —    166,190   $ 17   $ 415,341   $ (514,622 )   60,069   $ (90,522 )  $ (189,786 )
 

 Preferred Stock   Common Stock   Additional   Accumulated   Treasury Stock   
Stockholder

s’  

 Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   
Paid-in 
Capital   Deficit   Shares   Amount   Deficit  

Balance, December 31, 2022  29,057   $ 3    141,349   $ 14   $ 412,136   $ (375,914 )   —   $ —   $ 36,239  
Shares issued under Standby 
Equity Purchase Agreements  —    —    462    —    1,869    —    —    —    1,869  
Retainer shares issued  —    —    4,000    1    —    —    —    —    1  
Stock-based compensation  —    —    —    —    3,720    —    —    —    3,720  
Net loss  —    —    —    —    —    (30,753 )   —    —    (30,753 )
Balance, March 31, 2023  29,057   $ 3    145,811   $ 15   $ 417,725   $ (406,667 )   —   $ —   $ 11,076  

 
See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2024   2023  

Operating activities      
Net loss $ (24,377 )  $ (30,753 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash proceeds from (used for) operating activities:      
Depreciation and amortization  1,031    1,037  
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount  31    —  
Non-cash operating lease cost  180    144  
Stock-based compensation  3,558    3,720  
Loss on derivative liability  457    5,253  
Allocated expenses for warrant issuance cost  1,375    —  
Change in fair value of debt and liability instruments  3,905    —  
Other  26    —  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivables, net  4,881    1,992  
Inventory  726    (897 )
Prepaid expenses and other  (39 )   294  
Other long-term assets  (30 )   997  
Accounts payable  1,265    2,001  
Accrued payroll  1,046    359  
Accrued expenses  1,120    3,543  
Accrued rebates and fees  14,430    4,736  
Other liabilities  (197 )   (175 )
Other long-term liabilities  3    5  

Net cash proceeds from (used for) operating activities  9,391    (7,744 )
Investing activities      

Acquisition consideration paid in cash for Romeg intangible asset acquisition  (150 )   —  
Net cash used for investing activities  (150 )   —  
Financing activities      

Proceeds from issuance of shares under Standby Equity Purchase Agreements and ATM Sales Agreement  156    1,663  
Proceeds from issuance of Convertible Debentures  —    9,600  
Proceeds from issuance of Revolving Facility  32,567    —  
Repayment of Revolving Facility  (33,313 )   —  
Repayment of Oramed Note  (15,000 )   —  
Transaction costs paid related to the Business Combination  —    (634 )
Repayment of Convertible Debentures  (4,375 )   —  
Proceeds from issuance of shares under Bought Deal Offering  10,000     
Payments of Bought Deal Offering issuance costs  (1,277 )   —  
Proceeds from stock options exercised  46    —  

Net cash (used for) proceeds from financing activities  (11,196 )   10,629  
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  (1,955 )   2,885  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period  4,729    2,184  
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 2,774   $ 5,069  
Supplemental disclosure:      
Non-cash investing and financing activities      

Issuance of shares to B. Riley pursuant to B. Riley Purchase Agreement $ —   $ 1,869  
Issuance costs related to Bought Deal Offering included in accrued expenses $ 1,501   $ —  

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY 
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation
 
Organization and Principal Activities
 
Scilex Holding Company (“Scilex” and together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, the “Company”) is an innovative revenue-generating company focused 
on acquiring, developing and commercializing non-opioid pain management products for the treatment of acute and chronic pain. The Company was 
originally formed in 2019 and currently has five wholly owned subsidiaries, Scilex Inc. (“Legacy Scilex”), Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Scilex Pharma”), 
Semnur Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Semnur”), SCLX DRE Holdings LLC and SCLX Stock Acquisition JV LLC. The business combination with Vickers (the 
“Business Combination”) was closed in November 2022.
 
The Company launched its first commercial product in October 2018, ZTlido (lidocaine topical system) 1.8% (“ZTlido”), a prescription lidocaine topical 
system that is designed with novel technology to address the limitations of current prescription lidocaine therapies by providing significantly improved 
adhesion and continuous pain relief throughout the 12-hour administration period. The Company in-licensed the exclusive right to commercialize 
GLOPERBA (colchicine USP) oral solution (“GLOPERBA”), a U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”)-approved prophylactic treatment for painful 
gout flares in adults, in the United States of America (“U.S.” or the “United States”). In February 2023, the Company acquired the rights related to 
ELYXYB (celecoxib oral solution) (“ELYXYB”) and the commercialization thereof in the U.S. and Canada. ELYXYB is a first-line treatment and the only 
FDA-approved, ready-to-use oral solution for the acute treatment of migraine, with or without aura, in adults. In April 2023, the Company launched 
ELYXYB in the U.S. The Company expects to commercialize GLOPERBA in the U.S. in the first half of 2024.
 
The Company is currently developing three product candidates, SP-102 (10 mg, dexamethasone sodium phosphate viscous gel), a novel, viscous gel 
formulation of a widely used corticosteroid for epidural injections to treat lumbosacral radicular pain, or sciatica for which the Company has completed a 
Phase 3 study (“SP-102” or “SEMDEXA”), SP-103 (lidocaine topical system) 5.4% (“SP-103”), a next-generation, triple-strength formulation of ZTlido, for 
the treatment of chronic neck pain and for which the Company completed a Phase 2 trial in low back pain (“LBP”) in the third quarter of 2023, and SP-104 
(4.5 mg, low-dose naltrexone hydrochloride delayed-burst release low dose naltrexone hydrochloride capsules) (“SP-104”), a novel low-dose delayed-
release naltrexone hydrochloride being developed for the treatment of fibromyalgia, for which Phase 1 trials were completed in the second quarter of 
2022. Since inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to the development of SP-102, SP-103 and SP-104, and the 
commercialization of ZTlido. In 2024, the Company will also devote efforts on the commercialization of GLOPERBA and ELYXYB.
 
Sorrento Chapter 11 Filing
 
On February 13, 2023, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (“Sorrento”), the Company’s then-controlling stockholder, and Sorrento’s wholly-owned direct 
subsidiary, Scintilla Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Scintilla” and together with Sorrento, the “Debtors”), commenced voluntary proceedings under Chapter 11 of 
the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy 
Court”). The Debtors’ Chapter 11 proceedings are jointly administered under the caption In re Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc., et al., Case Number 23-90085 
(DRJ) (the “Chapter 11 Cases”). While the Company was majority-owned by Sorrento, the Company was not a debtor in the Chapter 11 Cases. Pursuant 
to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement that we entered into with Sorrento on September 21, 2023 (the “Sorrento SPA”), we repurchased shares of our 
Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock from Sorrento. As a result, Sorrento no longer holds a majority of the voting power of the Company’s 
outstanding capital stock entitled to vote. As of March 31, 2024, the Company had a $3.2 million receivable from Sorrento, which was fully reserved. The 
Company evaluates the collectability of this receivable on a quarterly basis.
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the 
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Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany 
balances and transactions have been eliminated.
 
These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial 
statements and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary to present fairly, in all material respects, 
the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the SEC on 
March 12, 2024 (the “Annual Report on Form 10-K”). The interim results for the three months ended March 31, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the 
results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2024 or for any future periods.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these unaudited 
condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Management believes that these 
estimates are reasonable; however, actual results may differ from these estimates.
 
Customer Concentration Risk
 
The Company had three customers during the three months ended March 31, 2024, each of which individually generated 10% or more of the Company’s 
total revenue. These customers accounted for 85% of the Company’s revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024, individually ranging from 
24% to 31%. As of March 31, 2024, these customers represented 94% of the Company’s outstanding accounts receivable, individually ranging between 
25% to 36%. Additionally, during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company purchased ZTlido inventory from its sole supplier, 
Itochu Chemical Frontier Corporation (“Itochu”). In November 2023 and February 2024, respectively, the Company started purchasing ELYXYB and 
GLOPERBA inventories from its sole suppliers, Contract Pharmaceuticals Ltd Canada (CPL) and Ferndale Laboratories, Inc., respectively. This exposes 
the Company to concentration of customer and supplier risk. The Company monitors the financial condition of its customers, limits its credit exposure by 
setting credit limits, and has not experienced any credit losses during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
 
Significant Accounting Policies
 
There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies during the three months ended March 31, 2024, as compared to the significant 
accounting policies described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements 
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Fair Value Measurements
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The carrying values of 
Company’s financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, prepaid and other current assets, accounts payable and 
accrued expenses approximate to their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The valuation of the derivative warrant liability for 
Private Warrants, Firm Warrants and Representative Warrants (each as defined below) is outlined in Note 4, utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. The Company has chosen the fair value option for the Convertible Debentures and the Oramed Note (each as defined below), with the valuation 
methodologies detailed in Note 7. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the reporting date. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized based upon the 
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level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels are directly related to the amount of subjectivity with the 
inputs to the valuation of these assets or liabilities as follows: 
 

Level 1 - Observable inputs such as unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date; 
 
Level 2 - Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) that are either directly or indirectly observable inputs for similar assets or liabilities. 
These include quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities 
in markets that are not active; and 
 
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash without penalty and with original maturities of three months or 
less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The carrying amounts reported in the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets for cash 
and cash equivalents are valued at cost, which approximate their fair value. 
 
Restricted cash for the periods presented consist of deposits placed in a segregated bank account as required under the terms of the Credit and Security 
Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2023, between Scilex Pharma and eCapital Healthcare Corp., which is discussed further in Note 7. Restricted cash is 
recorded as other long-term assets within the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the unaudited condensed consolidated balance 
sheets that together reflect the same amounts shown in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
 

 March 31,
2024   

December 31,
2023  

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,818   $ 3,921  
Restricted cash  956    808  

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 2,774   $ 4,729  
 
Convertible Debentures and the Oramed Note
 
The Company has elected the fair value option to account for the Convertible Debentures (as defined in Note 2 “Liquidity and Going Concern” below) that 
were issued in March and April 2023, as discussed further in Note 7. The Company has also elected the fair value option to account for the Oramed Note 
(as defined in Note 4 “Fair Value Measurements” below). The Company recorded the Convertible Debentures and the Oramed Note at fair value upon 
issuance with changes in fair value recorded as change in fair value of debt and liability instruments in the unaudited condensed consolidated 
statements of operations, with the exception of changes in fair value due to instrument-specific credit risk, if any, which are recorded as a component of 
other comprehensive income. Interest expense related to these financial instruments is included in the changes in fair value. As a result of applying the 
fair value option, direct costs and fees related to the Convertible Debentures and the Oramed Note were expensed as incurred. As of March 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023, the weighted-average interest rates for the short-term loans, including the Convertible Debentures and the Oramed Note, were 
13.83% and 13.55%, respectively.
 
Treasury Stock
 
The Company uses the cost method to account for repurchases of its stock. In the computation of net (loss) income per share, treasury shares are not 
included as part of the outstanding shares.
 
2. Liquidity and Going Concern
 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going 
concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities 
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in the normal course of business. Management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least one year after the 
issuance date of the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
 
On November 17, 2022, the Company entered into a standby equity purchase agreement (the “Original Purchase Agreement”) with YA II PN, Ltd., a 
Cayman Islands exempt limited partnership (“Yorkville”). On February 8, 2023, the Company entered into an amended and restated standby equity 
purchase agreement with Yorkville (the “A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement”), amending, restating and superseding the Original Purchase Agreement. 
On, and effective as of, March 25, 2024, the Company and Yorkville mutually agreed to terminate the Amended and Restated Standby Equity Purchase 
Agreement. 
 
On January 8, 2023, the Company entered into a standby equity purchase agreement (the “B. Riley Purchase Agreement” and together with A&R 
Yorkville Purchase Agreement, the “Standby Equity Purchase Agreements”) with B. Riley Principal Capital II, LLC (“B. Riley”). Pursuant to each of the 
Standby Equity Purchase Agreements, the Company had the right, but not the obligation, to sell to each of Yorkville and B. Riley up to $500.0 million of 
shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) at its request any time during the 36 months following the 
date on which the registration statement related to each such purchase agreement was initially declared effective by the SEC, subject to certain 
conditions, which are discussed further in Note 9. As consideration for Yorkville’s and B. Riley’s respective commitment to purchase shares of Common 
Stock at the Company’s direction, the Company issued 250,000 commitment shares to each of Yorkville (the “Yorkville Commitment Shares”) and B. 
Riley (the “B. Riley Commitment Shares”). On, and effective as of, February 16, 2024, the Company and B. Riley mutually agreed to terminate the B. 
Riley Purchase Agreement.
 
On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with Yorkville (the “Yorkville SPA”), pursuant to which the Company 
would issue and sell to Yorkville convertible debentures in an aggregate principal amount of up to $25.0 million (the “Convertible Debentures”). 
Convertible Debentures in the principal amount of $25.0 million (for net cash proceeds of $24.0 million) were issued and sold pursuant to the Yorkville 
SPA, which is discussed further in Note 7. The Company fully repaid the Convertible Debentures in March 2024.
 
On June 27, 2023, Scilex Pharma entered into a Credit and Security Agreement (the “eCapital Credit Agreement”) with eCapital Healthcare Corp. (the 
“Lender”), pursuant to which the Lender shall make available loans (the “Revolving Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30.0 million (the 
“Facility Cap”). The proceeds of the Revolving Facility will be used for (i) transaction fees incurred in connection with the eCapital Credit Agreement, (ii) 
working capital needs of Scilex Pharma and (iii) other uses not prohibited under the eCapital Credit Agreement. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has 
an outstanding balance of $16.3 million under the Revolving Facility. See Note 7 for additional discussion of the terms of the eCapital Credit Agreement.
 
On December 22, 2023, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., Cantor Fitzgerald & 
Co. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the “Sales Agents”). Pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement, the Company may offer and sell (the “Offering”) shares 
of Common Stock up to $170,000,000 (the “ATM Shares”), through or to the Sales Agents as part of the Offering. The Company has no obligation to sell 
any shares of Common Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement and may suspend offers thereunder at any time. The Offering will terminate upon (i) the 
election of the Sales Agents upon the occurrence of certain adverse events, (ii) three business days’ advance notice from the Company to the Sales 
Agents or a Sales Agent to the Company, or (iii) the sale of all $170,000,000 of shares of Common Stock thereunder. As of March 31, 2024, the 
Company sold 92,295 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement for net proceeds of approximately $0.1 million.
 
As of March 31, 2024, the Company’s negative working capital was $215.0 million, including cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.8 million. 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company had operating losses of $19.5 million and cash flows received from operations of $9.4 
million. The Company had an accumulated deficit of $514.6 million as of March 31, 2024.
 
The Company has plans to obtain additional resources to fund its currently planned operations and expenditures and to service its debt obligations 
(whether under the Oramed Note or otherwise) for at least twelve months from the issuance of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, government contracts or other strategic transactions. The 
Company’s plans are also dependent upon the success of future sales of ZTlido and ELYXYB, which is still in the early stages of commercialization, and 
the future commercialization of GLOPERBA. 
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Although the Company believes such plans, if executed, should provide the Company with financing to meet its needs, successful completion of such 
plans is dependent on factors outside the Company’s control. As a result, management has concluded that the aforementioned conditions, among other 
things, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements are issued.
 
3. Acquisitions
 
SP-104 Acquisition
 
In May 2022, the Company acquired the Delayed Burst Release Low Dose Naltrexone asset and intellectual property rights for the treatment of chronic 
pain, fibromyalgia and chronic post-COVID syndrome (collectively, the “SP-104 Assets”). Pursuant to the acquisition provisions, the Company is 
obligated to pay Aardvark Therapeutics, Inc. (“Aardvark”) (i) $3.0 million upon initial approval by the FDA of a new drug application for the SP-104 Assets 
(which amount may be paid in shares of Common Stock or cash, in the Company’s sole discretion) (the “Development Milestone Payment”) and (ii) $20.0 
million in cash, upon achievement of certain net sales by the Company of a commercial product that uses the SP-104 Assets (the “Sales Milestone 
Payment”). The Company will also pay Aardvark certain royalties in the single digits based on percentages of annual net sales by the Company of a 
commercial product that uses the SP-104 Assets.
 
The Sales Milestone Payment and sale volume-based future royalties were determined to meet a scope exception for derivative accounting and will not 
be recognized until the contingencies are realized. The Development Milestone Payment represents a liability, which will be measured at fair value for 
each reporting period. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the contingent consideration associated with Development Milestone Payment 
was $0.2 million, recorded in the other long-term liabilities.
 
GLOPERBA License Agreement
 
In June 2022, the Company entered into a license agreement (the “Romeg License Agreement”) with RxOmeg Therapeutics, LLC (a/k/a Romeg 
Therapeutics, Inc.) (“Romeg”). Pursuant to the Romeg License Agreement, among other things, Romeg granted the Company (a) a transferable license, 
with the right to sublicense, to (i) commercialize the pharmaceutical product comprising liquid formulations of colchicine for the prophylactic treatment of 
gout in adult humans (the “Initial Licensed Product” or “GLOPERBA”) in the United States (including its territories) (the “GLOPERBA Territory”), (ii) 
develop other products comprising the Initial Licensed Product as an active pharmaceutical ingredient (the “Licensed Products”) and commercialize any 
such products and (iii) manufacture Licensed Products anywhere in the world, solely for commercialization in the GLOPERBA Territory; and (b) an 
exclusive, transferable license, with a right to sublicense, to use the trademark GLOPERBA and logos, designs, translations, and modifications thereof in 
connection with the commercialization of the Initial Licensed Product solely in the GLOPERBA Territory. The Initial Licensed Product, GLOPERBA, was 
approved and made available in the United States in 2020.
 
As consideration for the license under the Romeg License Agreement, the Company paid Romeg an up-front license fee of $2.0 million, and has agreed 
to pay Romeg (a) upon the Company’s achievement of certain net sales milestones, certain milestone payments in the aggregate amount of up to $13.0 
million, (b) certain royalties in the mid-single digit to low-double digit percentages based on annual net sales of the Licensed Products by the Company 
during the applicable royalty term under the Romeg License Agreement, and (c) minimum quarterly royalty payments totaling $7.1 million commencing on 
the first year anniversary of the effective date of the Romeg License Agreement and ending on the later of (i) expiration of the last-to-expire of the 
licensed patents covering the Licensed Products in the GLOPERBA Territory or (ii) the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the Romeg License 
Agreement.
 
In connection with the Romeg License Agreement, the Company recorded an intangible asset for acquired licenses of $5.7 million, which is comprised of 
the upfront license fee of $2.0 million and deferred consideration of $3.7 million that is the present value of the future minimum royalty payments and 
immaterial transaction costs. No contingent consideration was recognized as a liability or included in the fair value of the assets as of March 31, 2024 or 
December 31, 2023. 
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ELYXYB Acquisition
 
On February 12, 2023, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement (the “ELYXYB APA”) with BioDelivery Sciences International, Inc. 
(“BDSI”) and Collegium Pharmaceutical, Inc. (“Collegium”, and together with BDSI, the “Sellers”) to acquire the rights to certain patents, trademarks, 
regulatory approvals, data, contracts, and other rights related to ELYXYB and its commercialization in the United States and Canada (the “ELYXYB 
Territory”).
 
As consideration for the acquisition, the Company assumed various rights and obligations under the asset purchase agreement between BDSI and Dr. 
Reddy’s Laboratories Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of India (“DRL”), dated August 3, 2021 (the “DRL APA”), including an irrevocable, 
royalty-free, exclusive license to know-how and patents of DRL related to ELYXYB and necessary or used to exploit ELYXYB in the ELYXYB Territory. 
No cash consideration was or will be payable to the Sellers for such acquisition; however, the obligations under the DRL APA that were assumed by the 
Company include contingent sales and regulatory milestone payments and sales royalties. The Company is also obligated to make quarterly royalty 
payments to DRL on net sales of ELYXYB in the ELYXYB Territory. In April 2023, the Company launched ELYXYB in the U.S. As of March 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, the Company had ending balances of accrued royalty payables of $48.5 thousand and $5.0 thousand, respectively. As of March 31, 
2024, no sales or regulatory milestone payments had been accrued as there were no potential milestones yet considered probable of achievement.
 
4. Fair Value Measurements
 
The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used 
in such measurements (in thousands):
 
  March 31, 2024  

  

Balance   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs (Level 2)   

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

(Level 3)  
Liabilities             

Oramed Note  $ 92,923   $ —   $ —   $ 92,923  
Derivative liabilities   6,941    —    —    6,941  
Other long-term liabilities   182    —    —    182  

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ 100,046   $ —   $ —   $ 100,046  
 
  December 31, 2023  

  

Balance   

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets
(Level 1)   

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs (Level 2)   

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)  
Liabilities             

Oramed Note  $ 104,089   $ —   $ —   $ 104,089  
Convertible Debentures   4,340    —    —    4,340  
Derivative liabilities   1,518    —    —    1,518  
Other long-term liabilities   179    —    —    179  

Total liabilities measured at fair value  $ 110,126   $ —   $ —   $ 110,126  
 
The Oramed Note
 
In September 2023, the Company issued a senior secured promissory note to Oramed Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Oramed”) in the principal amount of 
$101.9 million (the “Oramed Note”) (see Note 7). The Company elected the fair value option to account for the Oramed Note with any changes in the fair 
value of the note recorded in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company uses a discounted cash flow model to 
determine the fair value of the Oramed Note based on Level 3 inputs. This methodology discounts the interest and principal payments using a risk-
adjusted discount rate. The fair value as of March 31, 2024 was determined to be $92.9 million by applying 
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a discount rate of 12.64%. For the three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company recorded $3.8 million in change in fair value of the Oramed Note.
 
Convertible Debentures
 
In March and April 2023, the Company issued the Convertible Debentures in the principal amount of $25.0 million (see Note 7). The Convertible 
Debentures were measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs. The Company used the Binomial Lattice Model valuation technique to 
measure the fair value of the Convertible Debentures with any changes in the fair value of the Convertible Debentures recorded in the unaudited 
condensed consolidated statements of operations. Interest expense related to the Convertible Debentures is included in the changes in fair value. The 
Company fully repaid the Convertible Debentures in March 2024.
 
Derivative Liabilities
 
The Company recorded a loss of $0.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024, attributed to warrant liabilities consisting of the Private 
Warrants, the Firm Warrants and the Representative Warrants (each as defined below). The Company recorded a loss of $5.3 million for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023, attributed to warrant liability consisting of the Private Warrants. The Company assumed the private placement warrants 
from Vickers in November 2022 in connection with the Business Combination (“Private Warrants”). The Company issued the Firm Warrants and the 
Representative Warrants in March 2024 as part of the Bought Deal Offering (as defined below). 
 
As of March 31, 2024, there were 3,613,383 Private Warrants, 5,882,353 Firm Warrants and 470,588 Representative Warrants outstanding. The fair 
value of derivative warrant liabilities related to the Firm Warrants, the Representative Warrants and the Private Warrants was $6.9 million.
 
The following table includes a summary of the derivative liabilities measured at fair value during the three months ended March 31, 2024 (in thousands):
 

  Fair Value  
Ending Balance as of December 31, 2023  $ 1,518  

Change in fair value measurement   457  
Issuance of Firm Warrants and Representative Warrants as part of the Bought Deal Offering   4,966  

Ending Balance as of March 31, 2024  $ 6,941  
 
Warrant Liability Measurement
 
The derivative warrant liability was valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which is considered to be Level 3 fair value measurement. The 
primary unobservable input utilized in determining the fair value of the warrant is the expected volatility of the Common Stock. The expected volatility 
assumption is based on historical volatilities of comparable companies whose share prices are publicly available as well as the implied volatility of the 
Public Warrants (as defined below), described in Note 9 of the Notes to consolidated financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K. A 
summary of the inputs used in valuing the derivative warrant liabilities is as follows:
 
Private Warrants
 
  March 31,   December 31,  
  2024   2023  
Equity value  $ 1.59   $ 2.04  
Exercise price  $ 11.50   $ 11.50  
Term, in years   3.61    3.86  
Volatility   90.0 %   76.0 %
Risk-free rate   4.30 %   3.90 %
Dividend yield   0.0 %   0.0 %
Call option value  $ 0.39   $ 0.42  
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Firm Warrants
 
  March 31,  
  2024  
Equity value  $ 1.59  
Exercise price  $ 1.70  
Term, in years   4.93  
Volatility   64.0 %
Risk-free rate   4.17 %
Dividend yield   0.0 %
Call option value  $ 0.88  
 
Representative Warrants
 
  March 31,  
  2024  
Equity value  $ 1.59  
Exercise price  $ 2.13  
Term, in years   4.93  
Volatility   68.0 %
Risk-free rate   4.17 %
Dividend yield   0.0 %
Call option value  $ 0.76  
 
Contingent Consideration Related to SP-104 Acquisition
 
The Development Milestone Payment related to the SP-104 Assets represents an obligation to potentially settle a fixed value in a variable number of 
shares of Common Stock and requires remeasurement at fair value through settlement. 
 
Upon the achievement of FDA approval for a new drug application for SP-104, the Company will transfer $3.0 million in cash or shares of Common 
Stock, at the discretion of the Company. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability associated with the Development Milestone Payment was 
estimated using a probability-weighted discounted cash flow method. Significant unobservable inputs assumptions included the likelihood of receiving 
FDA approval for SP-104, expected timing for receipt of FDA approval for SP-104, and a discount rate of 10.6%. As of March 31, 2024 and December 
31, 2023, the fair value of contingent consideration related to the Development Milestone Payment was $0.2 million.
 
5. Balance Sheet Components
 
Property and equipment, net
 
Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):
 

  March 31,   December 31,  
  2024   2023  
Construction in progress  $ 689   $ 689  
Furniture   5    5  
Computers and equipment   9    36  
Leasehold improvements   50    50  

Property and equipment, gross   753    780  
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (35 )   (58 )

Property and equipment, net  $ 718   $ 722  
 
The Company recognized depreciation expense of $4.0 thousand and $10.0 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively.
 
Accrued Expenses
 
Accrued expenses consists of the following (in thousands):
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  March 31,   December 31,  
  2024   2023  

Accrued professional service fees  $ 4,477   $ 2,029  
Accrued tax payable   1,432    1,452  
Accrued research and development costs   1,216    1,546  
Accrued sales and marketing costs   585    1,601  
Accrued litigation expenses   500    500  
Accrued others   354    280  
Accrued expenses  $ 8,564   $ 7,408  

 
6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 
As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had recorded goodwill of $13.5 million. No goodwill impairment was recognized for the 
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
 
Amortization of the intangible assets that have finite useful lives is generally recorded on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. A summary of the 
Company’s identifiable intangible assets as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 is as follows (in thousands):
 

 March 31, 2024  

 Gross Carrying Amount   
Accumulated 
Amortization   Intangibles, net  

Patent rights $ 32,630   $ 16,136   $ 16,494  
Acquired technology  21,940    8,045    13,895  
Acquired licenses  5,711    642    5,069  
Assembled workforce  500    500    —  

Total intangible assets $ 60,781   $ 25,323   $ 35,458  
 

 December 31, 2023  
 Gross Carrying Amount   Accumulated Amortization   Intangibles, net  
Patent rights $ 32,630   $ 15,591   $ 17,039  
Acquired technology  21,940    7,679    14,261  
Acquired licenses  5,711    551    5,160  
Assembled workforce  500    475    25  
Total intangible assets $ 60,781   $ 24,296   $ 36,485  
 
As of March 31, 2024, the weighted average remaining life for identifiable intangible assets was 9.2 years. Aggregate amortization expense was $1.0 
million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
 
Estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets as of March 31, 2024 is as follows (in thousands):

 
 Amount  
2024 $ 3,004  
2025  4,006  
2026  4,006  
2027  4,006  
2028  4,006  
Thereafter  16,430  
Total $ 35,458  
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7. Debt
 
Convertible Debentures
 
On March 21, 2023, the Company entered into the Yorkville SPA pursuant to which the Company would issue and sell to Yorkville Convertible 
Debentures in an aggregate principal amount of up to $25.0 million. The Yorkville SPA provided that the Convertible Debentures would be issued and 
sold at a purchase price equal to 96% of the applicable principal amount in three tranches as follows: (i) $10.0 million upon the signing of the Yorkville 
SPA, which was funded on March 21, 2023, (ii) $7.5 million upon the filing of a registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC to register the resale by 
Yorkville of any shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Debentures under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 
“Securities Act”), which was funded on April 11, 2023 and (iii) $7.5 million at the time such registration statement is declared effective by the SEC, which 
was funded on April 20, 2023.
 
The Convertible Debentures bore interest at an annual rate of 7.00% and was initially set to mature on December 21, 2023. On October 11, 2023, the 
Company and Yorkville amended the Convertible Debentures. The Default Conversion Price (as defined therein) was originally set not to fall below $2.00 
per share and such floor price has been amended to mean a price per share of Common Stock equal to 95% of the lowest daily VWAP (as defined 
therein) during the five consecutive trading days immediately preceding the conversion date, but not lower than $0.50 per share. The maturity date of the 
Convertible Debentures was also extended from December 21, 2023 to March 15, 2024. The outstanding principal amount was to be repaid in equal 
installments that are due every 30 days beginning on May 20, 2023, which is 60 days after the date on which the first Convertible Debenture was issued 
to Yorkville. The Convertible Debentures provided a conversion right, in which any portion of the outstanding and unpaid principal and any accrued but 
unpaid interest, may be converted into shares of Common Stock, at a conversion price of $8.00 per share at the option of the holder of the Convertible 
Debentures. 
 
The Company had the option to repay either (i) in cash, with premium equal to 5% in respect of the principal amount of such payment, or (ii) by submitting 
a notice for an advance under the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement, or a series of advances thereunder, or any combination of (i) or (ii) as determined 
by the Company. In the case of (ii), the proceeds from the shares sold to Yorkville are applied against the outstanding amounts.
 
The Company had the right, but not the obligation, in its sole discretion, to redeem, upon five business days’ prior written notice to Yorkville (the 
“Redemption Notice”), all or any portion of the amounts outstanding under the Convertible Debentures; provided that the trading price of the Common 
Stock is less than the Conversion Price at the time of the Redemption Notice. The redemption amount shall be equal to the outstanding principal balance 
being redeemed by the Company, plus the redemption premium of 10% of the principal amount being redeemed, plus all accrued and unpaid interest in 
respect of such redeemed principal amount. 
 
The Company elected the fair value option for the Convertible Debentures and recorded the changes in the fair value within the consolidated statements 
of operations at the end of each reporting period. Pursuant to the Yorkville SPA, the Company issued additional Convertible Debentures in an aggregate 
principal amount of $15.0 million in April 2023 for $14.4 million in net cash proceeds. In April 2023, Yorkville elected to convert $5.0 million of the 
outstanding principal and accrued interest of the first Convertible Debentures issued to Yorkville, resulting in the issuance of 632,431 shares of Common 
Stock at a conversion price of $8.00 per share and reducing the outstanding Convertible Debentures balance by $7.7 million. The Company repaid the 
remaining $4.4 million of Convertible Debentures during the three months ended March 31, 2024. Interest expense related to the Convertible Debentures 
and included in the changes in fair value was $35 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2024.
 
The following table provides a summary of the changes in the balance and the estimated fair value of the Convertible Debentures (in thousands):
 

 March 31,  
 2024  
Beginning Balance as of January 1, 2024 $ 4,340  

Repayment of Convertible Debentures
 (4,375 )

Change in fair value of Convertible Debentures  35  

Ending Balance as of March 31, 2024 $ -
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Revolving Facility
 
On June 27, 2023, Scilex Pharma entered into the eCapital Credit Agreement pursuant to which the Lender shall make available loans (the “Revolving 
Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30.0 million. The Facility Cap may, at the request of Scilex Pharma and with the consent of the 
Lender, be increased in increments of $250,000 at such time as the outstanding principal balance under the eCapital Credit Agreement equals or 
exceeds 95% of the then-existing Facility Cap. The amount available to Scilex Pharma under the Revolving Facility at any one time is the lesser of the 
Facility Cap and 85% of the “Net Collectible Value” of “Eligible Receivables” (each as defined therein) minus the amount of any reserves or adjustments 
against receivables required by the Lender, in its discretion. 
 
Under the terms of the eCapital Credit Agreement, interest will accrue daily on the principal amount outstanding at a rate per annum equal to the Wall 
Street Journal Prime Rate plus 1.5%, based on a year consisting of 360 days, and which shall be payable by Scilex Pharma monthly in arrears, 
commencing July 1, 2023. The eCapital Credit Agreement provides for an early termination fee of 0.5% of the Facility Cap if Scilex Pharma voluntarily 
prepays and terminates in full the Revolving Facility prior to the first anniversary of the closing of the Revolving Facility. 
 
In connection with the eCapital Credit Agreement, Scilex Pharma and the Lender entered into blocked account control agreements with respect to Scilex 
Pharma’s collections and eCapital Credit Agreement funding accounts, which permit the Lender to sweep all funds in the collections account to an 
account of the Lender for application to the outstanding amounts under the Revolving Facility, and to exercise customary secured party remedies with 
respect to the eCapital Credit Agreement funding account. All indebtedness incurred and outstanding under the eCapital Credit Agreement will be due 
and payable in full on July 1, 2026, unless the eCapital Credit Agreement is earlier terminated. 
 
The eCapital Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant requiring Scilex Pharma to maintain cash on hand of at least $1.0 million at all times. Scilex 
Pharma’s obligations under the eCapital Credit Agreement are secured by a continuing security interest in Scilex Pharma’s accounts receivable, arising 
from customers in the ordinary course of business. The eCapital Credit Agreement contains customary events of default and also provides that an event 
of default includes a change of control of Scilex Pharma and the failure by the Company to issue at least $75.0 million of debt or equity by September 30, 
2023, which condition was satisfied by the issuance of the Oramed Note. As of March 31, 2024, Scilex Pharma has an outstanding balance of $16.3 
million under the Revolving Facility, which is classified as a long-term liability in the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.
 
On September 21, 2023, Scilex Pharma signed a subordination agreement (the “Subordination Agreement”) with the Lender and Acquiom Agency 
Services LLC (the “Agent”). Pursuant to the Subordination Agreement, the rights and interests of the Lender under the eCapital Credit Agreement would 
be secured by first priority liens on the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined therein). The ABL Priority Collateral consists of all of the Company’s properties 
identified in the description of collateral in the UCC-1 Financing Statement filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 27, 2023. The Agent’s 
rights and interests under the Subsidiary Guarantee, dated as of September 21, 2023, entered into by the Company and each of its subsidiaries with 
Oramed and the Agent (the “Subsidiary Guarantee”), would be secured by first priority liens on certain other collateral and second priority liens on the 
ABL Priority Collateral. The Subordination Agreement also includes other standard interlender terms and requires that the Facility Cap (as defined 
therein) shall not exceed $30.0 million.
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The Oramed Note
 
On September 21, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with Oramed (the “Scilex-Oramed SPA”), pursuant to which the 
Company issued the Oramed Note. The Oramed Note, which has a principal amount of $101.9 million, matures on March 21, 2025. It is payable in six 
principal installments, with the first installment of $5.0 million payable on December 21, 2023, the second installment in the principal amount of $15.0 
million payable on March 21, 2024, the next three installments each in the principal amount of $20.0 million payable on each of June 21, 2024, 
September 21, 2024 and December 21, 2024 and the last installment in the entire remaining principal balance of the Oramed Note payable on March 21, 
2025. Interest under the Oramed Note accrues at a fluctuating per annum interest rate equal to the sum of (1) greater of (x) 4% and (y) Term SOFR (as 
defined in the Oramed Note) and (2) 8.5%, payable in-kind on a monthly basis. Pursuant to the Oramed Note, since the outstanding principal of the 
Oramed Note was not repaid in full on or prior to March 21, 2024, an exit fee of approximately $3.1 million has been earned with respect to the Oramed 
Note, which shall be due and payable on the date on which the outstanding principal amount of the Oramed Note is paid in full. Upon the occurrence and 
during the continuance of an event of default under the Oramed Note, holders of more than 50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Oramed 
Notes may elect to accrue interest at a default rate equal to the lesser of (i) Term SOFR plus 15% or (ii) the maximum rate permitted under applicable 
law. Voluntary prepayments made before the one-year anniversary of the closing date of the Scilex-Oramed SPA must include a make-whole amount 
equal to 50% of the additional interest that would accrue on the principal amount so prepaid from the date of such prepayment through and including the 
maturity date. If the Oramed Note is accelerated upon an event of default, repayment is required at a mandatory default rate of 125% of the principal 
amount (together with 100% of accrued and unpaid interest thereon and all other amounts due in respect of the Oramed Note). The Oramed Note 
contains mandatory prepayment provisions requiring use of 70% of net cash proceeds from any Cash Sweep Financing (as defined in the Oramed Note) 
or advances under the ELOCs (as defined in the Oramed Note) to prepay the outstanding principal after the earlier of April 1, 2024 or full repayment of 
Acceptable Indebtedness (as defined in the Oramed Note). Following the Registered Direct Offering (as defined below and as described under Note 13), 
the Company made a mandatory prepayment of $9,578,835 to Oramed, which equals 70% of the net cash proceeds the Company received from the 
Registered Direct Offering. Given such payment was not a voluntary prepayment, such prepayment did not trigger the make-whole amount under the 
Oramed Note.
 
The Oramed Note contains affirmative and negative covenants binding on the Company and its subsidiaries, which restrict, among other things, the 
Company and its subsidiaries from incurring indebtedness or liens, amending charter and organizational documents, repaying or repurchasing stock, 
repaying, repurchasing, or acquiring indebtedness, paying or declaring cash dividends, assigning, selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of assets, 
making or holding investments, entering into transactions with affiliates, and entering into settlement agreements, in each case as more fully set forth in, 
and subject to certain qualifications and exceptions set forth in the Oramed Note. The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants as of March 
31, 2024.
 
In connection with the Oramed Note, the Company and each of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantors”) entered into a security agreement (the 
“Security Agreement”) with Oramed (together with its successors and permitted assigns, the “Holder”) and the Agent, which acts as the collateral agent 
for the holders of the Oramed Note. Under this agreement, the Company and the Guarantors granted to the Agent (on behalf of and for the benefit of the 
holders of the Oramed Note and any Additional Notes as defined thereunder) a security interest in all or substantially all of the properties of the Company 
and each of the Guarantors. This was done to ensure the timely payment, performance, and full discharge of all obligations under the Oramed Note. The 
Security Agreement contains certain customary representations, warranties and covenants regarding the collateral thereunder, all of which are detailed 
in the Security Agreement.
 
At issuance, the Company concluded that certain features of the Oramed Note would be considered derivatives that would require bifurcation. In lieu of 
bifurcating such features, the Company has elected the fair value option for this financial instrument and records the changes in the fair value within the 
consolidated statements of operations at the end of each reporting period. As of March 31, 2024, the fair value of the Oramed Note was $92.9 million, 
which is classified as a current liability in the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet.
 
The following table provides a summary of the changes in the balance and the estimated fair value of the Oramed Note (in thousands):
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 March 31,  
 2024  
Beginning Balance as of January 1, 2024 $ 104,089  

Change in fair value of Oramed Note  3,834  
Repayment of Oramed Note $ (15,000 )

Ending Balance as of March 31, 2024 $ 92,923  
 
 
 
8. Junior DIP Facility and Sorrento Stock Purchase Agreement
 
Junior DIP Facility
 
In July 2023, the Company entered into an agreement to provide Sorrento with a non-amortizing super-priority junior secured term loan facility (“Junior 
DIP Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million (the “Junior DIP Loan Agreement”), which was funded in the same month. The Junior DIP 
Facility bears interest at a per annum rate of 12.00% payable in kind on the first day of each month in arrears and on the DIP Termination Date (as 
defined in the Junior DIP Loan Agreement). Upon repayment or satisfaction of the DIP Loans (as defined in the Junior DIP Loan Agreement) in whole or 
in part, Sorrento is required to pay to the Company in cash an exit fee equal to 2.00% of the aggregate principal amount of the Junior DIP Facility. The 
Junior DIP Facility was to mature on the earliest of: (i) September 30, 2023; (ii) the effective date of any Chapter 11 plan of reorganization with respect to 
Sorrento; (iii) the consummation of any sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Sorrento; (iv) the date of the acceleration of the 
DIP Loans and the termination of the DIP Commitments (as defined in the Junior DIP Loan Agreement) in accordance with the DIP Documents (as 
defined in the Junior DIP Loan Agreement); and (v) dismissal of the Chapter 11 Cases or conversion of the Chapter 11 Cases into cases under Chapter 
7 of the Bankruptcy Code. 
 
On September 21, 2023, Sorrento’s obligations under the Junior DIP Facility were waived and deemed to be fully settled in conjunction with the Sorrento 
SPA. Consequently, the transfer of funds associated with the Junior DIP Facility was deemed and accounted for as a capital distribution to Sorrento.
 
Sorrento Stock Purchase Agreement
 
On September 21, 2023, the Company entered into the Sorrento SPA pursuant to which the Company purchased from Sorrento (i) 60,068,585 shares of 
Common Stock, (ii) 29,057,097 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company (the “Preferred Stock”) and (iii) 
1,386,617 Public Warrants (as defined below) and 3,104,000 Private Warrants (collectively, the “Purchased Securities”). On the same day, the Company 
and Oramed entered into the Scilex-Oramed SPA. The Company concluded that the Sorrento SPA and the Scilex-Oramed SPA were entered in 
contemplation of each other and the issuance of the Oramed Note was accounted as part of the consideration payable for the Purchased Securities 
acquired from Sorrento.
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Scilex-Oramed SPA, the Company issued the Oramed Note (see Note 7), which replaced Sorrento’s outstanding obligations 
to Oramed, warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 4,500,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Closing Penny Warrant”) with an exercise price of $0.01 
per share and restrictions on exercisability, and warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 8,500,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Subsequent Penny 
Warrants” and together with the Closing Penny Warrant, the “Penny Warrants”), each with an exercise price of $0.01 per share and each with restrictions 
on exercisability. Additionally, the Company agreed to transfer to Oramed 4,000,000 SPAC Warrants (as defined below), which were acquired by the 
Company under the Sorrento SPA. There was no change in the terms for the warrants transferred to Oramed as a result of the transactions described 
above. The remaining consideration for the Purchased Securities was comprised of a credit bid for all amounts of principal and accrued but unpaid 
interest outstanding under the Junior DIP Facility, a $10.0 million cash payment, and the assumption and assignment of certain obligations of Sorrento 
for legal fees and expenses amounting to approximately $12.3 million.
 
The Company allocated the total consideration between the repurchased instruments by allocating to the repurchased Private Warrants their full value, 
with the remaining consideration allocated to the Common Stock, Preferred Stock, and Public Warrants (as defined below) based on their relative fair 
values as of September 21, 2023.
 
Before the closing of the Sorrento SPA transactions and in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Sorrento SPA, the Company formed 
two entities: (a) Scilex DRE Holdings LLC (“Holdco”), a single purpose entity 
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that is the Company’s direct wholly owned subsidiary and (b) Scilex Stock Acquisition Joint Venture LLC, a single purpose bankruptcy-remote entity that 
is the Company’s indirect wholly owned subsidiary (“SCLX JV”), which was formed to hold the Purchased Securities. Holdco was formed to hold all of the 
equity interests in SCLX JV. Holdco and SCLX JV are parties to the Security Agreement and Subsidiary Guarantee (see Note 7).
 
Preferred Stock
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Sorrento SPA, the Company repurchased all of the outstanding Preferred Stock. The Preferred Stock is classified in equity 
and does not have any bifurcated features. Therefore, the repurchase of the Preferred Stock by the Company is treated as a redemption of shares and 
viewed as a deemed dividend. The fair value of Preferred Stock as of the repurchase date of September 21, 2023 was $52.6 million. The Company 
derecognized the carrying value of the Preferred Stock, with any excess amount allocated as the reduction in additional paid-in capital. The Preferred 
Stock is currently held as collateral for the Oramed Note.
 
Treasury Stock
 
The Common Stock that has been repurchased by the Company under the Sorrento SPA is not intended for constructive retirement, and is being held as 
collateral for the Oramed Note. In accordance with treasury stock accounting guidance, the consideration allocated to Common Stock is presented under 
a separate caption of Treasury Stock as a reduction of equity.
 
Penny Warrants
 
The Closing Penny Warrant will be exercisable upon the earliest of (i) March 14, 2025, (ii) the date on which the Oramed Note has been repaid in full and 
(iii) the Management Sale Trigger Date (as defined therein), if any, and will expire on the date that is the fifth anniversary of the issuance date.
 
The Company issued four Subsequent Penny Warrants, each for 2,125,000 shares of Common Stock, one of which shall vest and become exercisable 
on the date that is the later of (i) each of March 19, 2024, June 17, 2024, September 15, 2024 or December 14, 2024 (the “Subsequent Penny Warrant 
Vesting Date”) and (ii) the earliest of (A) March 14, 2025, (B) the date on which the Oramed Note has been repaid in full and (C) the Management Sale 
Trigger Date (as defined therein), if any. Each Subsequent Penny Warrant will expire on the date that is the fifth anniversary of the issuance date; 
provided that, if the Oramed Note is repaid in full prior to the Subsequent Penny Warrant Vesting Date applicable to such Subsequent Penny Warrant, 
such Subsequent Penny Warrant will expire on the date the Oramed Note is repaid in full.
 
The exercise price of the Penny Warrants is $0.01 per share, subject to adjustments provided therein. The exercise price and number of shares of 
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the Penny Warrants will be subject to adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, 
recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction, as described in the Penny Warrants; provided that there shall not be any adjustment to the exercise 
price of the Penny Warrants in the event the Company combines (by combination, reverse stock split or otherwise) its Common Stock into a smaller 
number of shares. Oramed may exercise the Penny Warrants by means of a “cashless exercise.” The Closing Penny Warrant and the Subsequent Penny 
Warrants utilize the same form of warrant.
 
The Penny Warrants may not be exercised if Oramed, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own in excess of 9.9% of the number of shares of 
Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise (the “Oramed Beneficial Ownership Limitation”); provided, however, that 
upon 61 days’ prior notice to the Company, Oramed may increase or decrease the Oramed Beneficial Ownership Limitation.
 
The Company accounted for the Penny Warrants as an equity classified instrument as they are indexed to the Company’s own stock and meet the 
conditions to be classified in equity under FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, including sufficient available shares for the Company to settle the 
exercise of the warrants in shares. The Penny Warrants are recognized in additional paid-in capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The 
fair value of Penny Warrants as of September 21, 2023, the date of issuance, was $10.4 million.
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Excise Tax
 
In December 2022, the Department of the Treasury and the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) issued guidelines on the implementation of the new 
code section added by the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which imposes a 1% excise tax on the total fair market value of stock repurchases during the 
tax year, subject to adjustments. Pursuant to the terms of the Sorrento SPA, the Company repurchased the Purchased Securities from Sorrento. The 
total fair market value of the Purchased Securities was offset by the fair market value of the shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
The Company has accrued $1.3 million of the excise tax liability, which is recorded as accrued expenses under current liabilities on the unaudited 
condensed consolidated balance sheet. The excise tax will be adjusted based on any new guidance that the IRS may release.
 
9. Stockholders’ Equity
 
SPAC Warrants 
 
Upon the completion of the Business Combination, the Company assumed the Private Warrants and the public warrants to purchase Common Stock, 
each with an exercise price of $11.50 per share (the “Public Warrants”, and together with the Private Warrants, the “SPAC Warrants”).
 
Holders of the SPAC Warrants are entitled to acquire shares of Common Stock. The SPAC Warrants will expire five years after the completion of the 
Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.
 
If the reported last sale price of the Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending 
three business days before the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders, the Company may redeem all the Public Warrants at a 
price of $0.01 per warrant upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice. 
 
If the Company calls the Public Warrants for redemption, the Company will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public 
Warrants to do so on a cashless basis. The Company will not be required to net cash settle the SPAC Warrants. 
 
The Public Warrants are equity-classified warrants and recognized in additional paid-in capital in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The 
Private Warrants are liability-classified warrants and are recognized as liabilities (refer to Notes 1 and 4).
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the SPAC Warrants held by Sorrento were repurchased, and certain of such warrants transferred to Oramed, 
as a result of the Sorrento SPA (refer to Note 8).
 
As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 6,854,309 Public Warrants outstanding.
 
As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 3,613,383 Private Warrants outstanding.
 
Preferred Stock
 
As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 29,057,097 shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. On September 21, 2023, the Preferred 
Stock was repurchased and derecognized for accounting purposes. The Preferred Stock is currently held as collateral for the Oramed Note.
 
Treasury Stock
 
As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 60,068,585 shares of Treasury Stock.
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A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement
 
Pursuant to the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement, the Company had the right, but not the obligation, in its sole and absolute discretion, to sell to 
Yorkville up to $500.0 million of shares of Common Stock at its request and subject to certain conditions by delivering written notice to Yorkville at any 
time until the first day of the month following the 36-month anniversary of the date on which the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 
registering such shares has been declared effective by the SEC. Pursuant to the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement, the shares of Common Stock, if 
any, that the Company elected to sell to Yorkville pursuant to a sale of Common Stock will be purchased at a price equal to 98% of the VWAP (as defined 
below) during the applicable pricing period for such advance, which shall be the period commencing upon receipt by Yorkville of an advance notice from 
the Company (or the open of regular trading hours, if later) and ending on 4:00 p.m. on the same day. For purposes of the A&R Yorkville Purchase 
Agreement, “VWAP” means, for a specified period, the volume weighted average price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market for such 
period as reported by Bloomberg L.P. through its “AQR” function. Pursuant to the terms of the Original Purchase Agreement, the Company filed a 
registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-268607) (as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Yorkville Registration 
Statement”) related to the Original Purchase Agreement with the SEC on November 30, 2022 (following the execution of the Original Purchase 
Agreement). The Yorkville Registration Statement was initially declared effective by the SEC on December 9, 2022.
 
In connection with the execution of the Original Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to Yorkville 250,000 shares of Common Stock. During the 
three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company sold 96,982 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement for 
aggregate net proceeds of $0.2 million. On, and effective as of, March 25, 2024, the Company and Yorkville mutually agreed to terminate the A&R 
Yorkville Purchase Agreement.
 
B. Riley Purchase Agreement
 
Pursuant to the B. Riley Purchase Agreement, the Company had the right, but not the obligation, to sell to B. Riley up to $500.0 million of shares of 
Common Stock, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth therein, from time to time at the Company’s sole and absolute discretion, during the 
term of the B. Riley Purchase Agreement.
 
The Company’s right to sell shares of Common Stock pursuant to the B. Riley Purchase Agreement shall end on the first day of the month following the 
36-month anniversary of the date on which the B. Riley Registration Statement (as defined below) was initially declared effective by the SEC. Pursuant to 
the terms of the B. Riley Purchase Agreement, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-269205) (as it may be amended or 
supplemented from time to time, the “B. Riley Registration Statement”) related to the B. Riley Purchase Agreement with the SEC on January 12, 2023 
(following the execution of the B. Riley Purchase Agreement). The B. Riley Registration Statement was initially declared effective by the SEC on January 
20, 2023. 
 
The shares of Common Stock, if any, that the Company elects to sell to B. Riley pursuant to an advance under the B. Riley Purchase Agreement will be 
purchased at a price equal to 98% of the VWAP (as defined in such agreement) during the pricing period prescribed therein.
 
In connection with the execution of the B. Riley Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to B. Riley 250,000 shares of Common Stock. During the 
three months ended March 31, 2024, the Company did not sell any shares of Common Stock pursuant to the B. Riley Purchase Agreement. On, and 
effective as of, February 16, 2024, the Company and B. Riley mutually agreed to terminate the B. Riley Purchase Agreement.
 
At-the-Market Sales Agreement
 
On December 22, 2023, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., Cantor Fitzgerald & 
Co. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the “Sales Agents”). Pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement, the Company may offer and sell (the “Offering”) shares 
of Common Stock up to $170,000,000 (the “ATM Shares”), through or to the Sales Agents. The Company has no obligation to sell any shares of 
Common Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement and may suspend offers at any time. The Offering will terminate upon (i) the election of the Sales 
Agents upon the occurrence of certain adverse events, (ii) three business days’ advance notice from the 
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Company to the Sales Agents or a Sales Agent to the Company, or (iii) the sale of all $170,000,000 of shares of Common Stock thereunder.
 
The ATM Shares offered and sold in the Offering will be issued pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (which was initially filed 
with the SEC on December 22, 2023, as amended, and declared effective on January 11, 2024 (File No. 333-276245)) (the “Shelf S-3 Registration 
Statement”). The ATM Shares may be offered only by means of a prospectus forming a part of the Shelf S-3 Registration Statement.
 
The Sales Agents are entitled to a commission equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares of Common Stock. The Company will also 
reimburse the Sales Agents for certain expenses and has agreed to provide indemnification and contribution to the Sales Agents against certain civil 
liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.
 
As of March 31, 2024, the Company sold 92,295 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement for net proceeds of approximately $0.1 
million.
 
Underwriting Agreement
 
On February 29, 2024, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Rodman & Renshaw LLC and 
StockBlock Securities LLC, acting as representatives of the underwriters, to sell, in an underwritten offering (the “Bought Deal Offering”), 5,882,353 
shares of Common Stock (the “Firm Shares”) and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 5,882,353 shares of Common 
Stock (the “Firm Warrants”). The securities in the Bought Deal Offering were offered and sold by us pursuant to the Shelf S-3 Registration Statement, a 
base prospectus dated January 11, 2024, and a final prospectus supplement dated February 29, 2024.
 
The Bought Deal Offering closed on March 5, 2024, and the combined price per Firm Share and accompanying Firm Warrant paid by the underwriters 
was $1.564, which amount reflects the combined public offering price of $1.70, less underwriting discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the 
Underwriting Agreement, the Company also granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to 882,352 additional shares of Common Stock 
and/or common warrants to purchase up to 882,352 shares of Common Stock (the “Optional Warrants”, and together with the Firm Warrants, the 
“Common Warrants”). The underwriters did not exercise this option and it expired on March 30, 2024. Subject to certain ownership limitations, the 
Common Warrants are immediately exercisable upon issuance, set to expire five years later, with an exercise price of $1.70 per share, subject to 
adjustments. Additionally, the Company issued the Representative warrants (the “Representative Warrants”) to the underwriters, allowing them to 
purchase up to 470,588 shares of Common Stock, with these warrants being immediately exercisable at $2.125 per share, representing 125% of the 
combined public offering price per Firm Share and accompanying Firm Warrant. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, there were 5,882,353 Firm Warrants and 470,588 Representative Warrants outstanding.
 
10. Stock Incentive and Employee Benefit Plan
 
2017 Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. Equity Incentive Plan
 
In June 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) adopted the Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “Scilex Pharma 
2017 Plan”). In connection with the corporate reorganization in March 2019, the Scilex Pharma 2017 Plan was terminated. Accordingly, after such time, 
no additional awards were granted under the Scilex Pharma 2017 Plan. 
 
Scilex Holding Company 2019 Stock Option Plan
 
In May 2019, the Board adopted the Scilex Holding Company 2019 Stock Option Plan (the “2019 Stock Option Plan”), which subsequently was amended 
in December 2020. The 2019 Stock Option Plan was terminated at the closing of the Business Combination, and no further awards have been granted 
under the 2019 Stock Option Plan thereafter. However, the 2019 Stock Option Plan will continue to govern outstanding awards granted thereunder. 
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Scilex Holding Company 2022 Equity Incentive Plan
 
In October 2022, the Board adopted the Scilex Holding Company 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”). As of March 31, 2024, a total 
of 20,129,644 shares of Common Stock were available and have been reserved for future issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan, which number of 
shares accounts for the automatic annual increase on January 1, 2024 pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plan.
 
As of March 31, 2024, options to purchase 33,267,137 shares of Common Stock were outstanding under all equity incentive plans.
 
Scilex Holding Company 2023 Inducement Plan
 
On January 17, 2023, the compensation committee of the Board adopted the Scilex Holding Company 2023 Inducement Plan (the “Inducement Plan”). 
The Inducement Plan provides for the grant of equity-based awards in the form of non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, 
restricted stock units, and other awards solely to prospective employees of the Company or an affiliate of the Company provided that certain criteria are 
met. The initial maximum number of shares available for grant under the Inducement Plan is 1,400,000 shares of Common Stock (subject to adjustment 
for recapitalizations, stock splits, reorganizations and similar transactions). No awards were granted under the Inducement Plan during the three months 
ended March 31, 2024.
 
The following table summarizes stock option activity during the three months ended March 31, 2024 (shares in thousands):
 
 

Options   
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price   

Weighted-Average 
Remaining 

Contractual Life,  
in years   

Aggregate Intrinsic 
Value  

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023  33,124   $ 4.38    7.5   $ 7,459  
Granted  228   $ 1.37        
Exercised  (34 )  $ 1.34        
Forfeited/Cancelled  (51 )  $ 4.61        
Outstanding as of March 31, 2024  33,267   $ 4.36    7.2   $ 1,100  
Exercisable as of March 31, 2024  20,174   $ 2.99    6.2   $ 612  
 
Intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the fair value of the Common Stock for the options 
that had exercise prices that were lower than the per share fair value of the Common Stock as of the measurement date of the intrinsic value. The 
weighted-average grant date fair value per share of stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $0.89 per share. The total 
intrinsic value of options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $8.8 thousand.
 
Total stock-based compensation recorded within operating expenses was $3.6 million and $3.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.
 
The total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested employee and non-employee stock option grants as of March 31, 2024 were $38.0 
million, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.8 years.
 
Scilex Holding Company 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 
On October 17, 2022, the Board adopted the Scilex Holding Company 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The purchase price of the 
Common Stock is equal to 85% of the lesser of the market value of such shares at the beginning of an offering period or the date of purchase. As of 
March 31, 2024, the total number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP shall not exceed 4,476,601, which was increased 
from 2,875,759 shares as a result of automatic annual increase on January 1, 2024.
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Total stock-based compensation recorded as operating expense for the ESPP was $58.0 thousand and nil for the three months ended March 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively.
 
As of March 31, 2024, there were no shares of Common Stock issued under the ESPP.
 
Valuation Assumptions
 
The Company calculates the fair value of stock options and ESPP awards granted to employees and nonemployees using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing method. The Black-Scholes option pricing method requires the use of subjective assumptions.
 
The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate stock-based compensation on the date of grant for stock 
options:
 

  Three Months Ended
March 31, 2024

Stock options:   
Expected dividend yield  0.00%
Expected volatility  72.00%
Risk-free interest rate  4.33%
Term of options (in years)  5.5 - 6.3

 
Employee Benefit Plan
 
The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) plan available to eligible employees. Employee contributions are voluntary and are determined on 
an individual basis, limited to the maximum amount allowable under federal tax regulations. The Company made matching contributions to the 401(k) 
plan totaling $0.2 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
 
Retainer Shares 
 
On February 13, 2023, the Company entered into a Stock Issuance Agreement (the “SIA”) with a law firm for the provision of legal services to the 
Company. Under the SIA, the Company issued 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock to the law firm (the “Retainer Shares”). The Retainer Shares are held 
by the law firm as collateral for the current and future outstanding legal fees due from the Company. 
 
At the option of the law firm, the Retainer Shares may be sold and the net proceeds may be applied against the outstanding legal fees. The Retainer 
Shares not applied against the outstanding legal fees due will be returned to the Company. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, it was not probable that any of the Retainer Shares would be applied against any outstanding legal fees.
 
11. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Product Development Agreement
 
In February 2013, Scilex Pharma became a party to a product development agreement (as amended, the “Product Development Agreement”) with Itochu 
and Oishi Koseido Co., Ltd. (“Oishi,” and together with Itochu, the “Developers”), pursuant to which the Developers will manufacture and supply lidocaine 
tape products, including ZTlido and SP-103 (the “Products”), for Scilex Pharma. The Developers initially developed and have intellectual property rights 
relating to the Products. Pursuant to the Product Development Agreement, Scilex Pharma acquired an exclusive right to develop and commercialize the 
Products worldwide except for Japan. The Developers are responsible for sourcing and supplying lidocaine for development and commercialization 
purposes.
 
Pursuant to the Product Development Agreement, Scilex Pharma is required to make aggregate royalty payments between 25% and 35% to the 
Developers based on net profits. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, 
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Scilex Pharma made royalty payments in the amount of $2.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, Scilex 
Pharma had ending balances of accrued royalty payables of $2.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Total royalty expense recorded within cost of 
revenue was $2.3 million and $2.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Net profits are defined as net sales, less 
cost of goods and marketing expenses. Net sales are defined as total gross sales of any Product, less all applicable deductions, to the extent accrued, 
paid or allowed in the ordinary course of business with respect to the sale of such Product, and to the extent that they are in accordance with GAAP. If 
Scilex Pharma were to sublicense the licensed technologies, the Developers will receive the same proportion of any sublicensing fees received 
therefrom. The Product Development Agreement will continue in full force and effect until October 2, 2028, the date that is ten years from the date of the 
first commercial sale of ZTlido. The Product Development Agreement will renew automatically for subsequent successive one-year renewal periods 
unless Scilex Pharma or the Developers terminate it upon 6-month written notice.
 
On February 16, 2017, Scilex Pharma entered into a Commercial Supply Agreement (as amended, the “Supply Agreement”) with the two Developers to 
provide commercial supply of ZTlido and SP-103 to Scilex Pharma. The Supply Agreement contains standard terms regarding term, termination, 
payment, product quality and supply. In addition, the agreement provides additional terms regarding the calculation and amount of marketing expenses 
that may be deducted from net sales for purposes of determining the amount of net profit under the Product Development Agreement.
 
Litigation
 
In the normal course of business, the Company may be named as a defendant in one or more lawsuits. Other than the following four lawsuits, the 
Company is not a party to any outstanding material litigation and management is not aware of any legal proceedings that, individually or in the aggregate, 
are deemed to be material to the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
 
From time to time the Company may become involved in various legal proceedings, including those that may arise in the ordinary course of business.
 
Sanofi-Aventis U.S. LLC and Hisamitsu America, Inc. Litigation
 
On February 23, 2021, the Company filed an action (the “Action”) in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California against Sanofi-Aventis 
U.S. LLC and Hisamitsu America, Inc., two manufacturers of over-the-counter (“OTC”) lidocaine patch products, alleging, among other things, false and 
deceptive advertising and unfair competition under the Lanham Act and California state laws by those companies regarding their respective OTC patch 
products (the “Sanofi-Aventis & Hisamitsu Litigation”). This lawsuit sought, among other relief, damages and an injunction enjoining the defendants from 
continuing to make false or misleading statements of fact about their respective OTC lidocaine patch products. The defendants filed motions to dismiss, 
which narrowed slightly the Company’s claims, but which motions the court largely rejected. Discovery was proceeding. On January 26 and February 2, 
2024, Scilex Pharma entered into two separate settlement agreements and mutual releases with the two manufacturers that resolved the Action. The 
terms of those agreements are confidential.
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Former Employee Action
 
On March 12, 2021, Scilex Pharma and Sorrento (the “Plaintiffs”) filed an action (the “Former Employee Action”) in the Delaware Court of Chancery 
against the former President of Scilex Pharma, Anthony Mack, and Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Virpax”, and together with Mr. Mack, the “Defendants”), 
a company founded and then headed by Mr. Mack, alleging, among other things, breach by Mr. Mack of a restrictive covenant agreement with Sorrento 
related to his sale of his Scilex Pharma stock to Sorrento, tortious interference with that agreement by Virpax, breach of Mr. Mack’s fiduciary duties to 
Scilex Pharma, aiding and abetting of that breach by Virpax, and misappropriation of Scilex Pharma’s trade secrets by Mr. Mack and Virpax. Such lawsuit 
sought, among other relief, damages and various forms of injunctive relief. The case was tried from September 12, 2022 to September 14, 2022. On 
September 1, 2023, the court found in favor of the Plaintiffs on all but three counts deemed to have been waived. In its 95-page opinion, the court 
instructed the parties to submit supplemental briefing on the appropriate remedy to implement its rulings. On October 18, 2023, the Plaintiffs submitted a 
supplemental brief on remedies. On November 29, 2023, Defendants submitted a supplemental brief on remedies. On December 21, 2023, the Plaintiffs 
submitted a supplemental reply brief on remedies. On February 26, 2024, the Company and Virpax entered into a term sheet regarding a mutual release 
and settlement agreement, pursuant to which the parties have agreed to resolve the ongoing disputes. On February 29, 2024, the Company and Virpax 
entered into a definitive settlement agreement, which provides for, among other things, that Virpax would be obligated to make the following payments to 
the Company to settle the Former Employee Action: (i) $3.5 million (the “Initial Payment”) by two business days after the Effective Date (as defined 
therein), which payment has been made; (ii) $2.5 million by July 1, 2024 and (iii) to the extent any of the following drug candidates are ever sold, royalty 
payments of (a) 6% of annual Net Sales (as defined therein) of Epoladerm, (b) 6% of annual Net Sales of Probudur and (c) 6% of annual Net Sales of 
Envelta during the Royalty Term (as defined therein). The Company and Virpax provided mutual releases of all claims that existed as of the Effective 
Date, whether known or unknown, arising from any allegations set forth in the Former Employee Action. Plaintiffs’ release relates to claims against Virpax 
only, which does not affect its claims against Mr. Mack. Plaintiffs have not released Mr. Mack, and litigation against him remains ongoing. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, the Company fully reserved the $2.5 million receivable to be paid by Virpax by July 1, 2024, as the collectability of this receivable 
was deemed uncertain. 
 
ZTlido Patent Litigation
 
On June 22, 2022, the Company filed a complaint against Aveva Drug Delivery Systems, Inc. (“Aveva”), Apotex Corp., and Apotex, Inc. (together, 
“Apotex”) in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the “ZTlido Patent Litigation”) alleging infringement of certain Orange Book listed 
patents covering ZTlido (the “ZTlido Patents”). The ZTlido Patent Litigation was initiated following the submission by Apotex, in accordance with the 
procedures set out in the Hatch-Waxman Act, of an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”). Apotex’s ANDA seeks approval to market a generic 
version of ZTlido prior to the expiration of the ZTlido Patents and alleges that the ZTlido Patents are invalid, unenforceable, and/or not infringed. The 
Company is seeking, among other relief, an order that the effective date of any FDA approval of Apotex’s ANDA be no earlier than the expiration of the 
asserted patents listed in the Orange Book, the latest of which expires on May 10, 2031, and such further and other relief as the court may deem 
appropriate. Apotex is subject to a 30-month stay preventing it from selling a generic version of ZTlido during that time. The stay should expire no earlier 
than November 11, 2024. The two Apotex entities were recently dismissed from the litigation without prejudice, as they no longer have an interest in the 
generic product that Aveva seeks to market. Trial in the ZTlido Patent Litigation has been scheduled for July 8, 2024. The Company cannot make any 
predictions about the final outcome of this matter or the timing thereof.
 
GLOPERBA Patent Litigation
 
On November 6, 2023, Takeda Pharmaceuticals U.S.A., Inc. (“Takeda”) filed a complaint against the Company in the U.S. District Court for the District of 
Delaware (the “GLOPERBA Patent Litigation”) alleging that the Company’s filing with the FDA of an application for approval of a proposed revision to the 
product label for its Gloperba product infringed certain Orange Book listed patents covering Takeda’s colchicine product, Colcrys® (the “Colcrys 
Patents”). Takeda sought an order that the effective date of any FDA approval of the Company’s labeling revision be no earlier than the expiration date of 
the asserted patents listed in the Orange Book, and such further and other relief as the court may deem appropriate. The Company had previously 
accrued $0.5 million with respect to the GLOPERBA Patent Litigation. On March 7, 2024, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (the 
“Settlement Agreement”) with 
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Takeda to resolve the Action and entered into a license agreement with Takeda pursuant to which Takeda granted a non-exclusive license to the 
Company and its affiliates of certain patents owned by Takeda. The terms of those agreements are confidential. The Settlement Agreement was subject 
to review by the Federal Trade Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice, neither of which objected during the review period. After the expiration 
of the review period, the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware entered a final consent judgment on May 3, 2024.
 
Operating Leases
 
The Company leases administrative and research and development facilities under various non-cancelable lease agreements. Facility leases generally 
provide for periodic rent increases and may include options to extend. As of March 31, 2024, the Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of 
approximately 0.4 to 3.5 years. The terms of the Company’s leases, ranging from 3 to 5 years, include extension options that were not reasonably certain 
to be exercised. Many of the Company’s leases are subject to variable lease payments. Variable lease payments are recognized in the period in which 
the obligations for those payments are incurred, are not included in the measurement of the right-of-use (“ROU”) assets or lease liabilities, and are 
immaterial. Additionally, the Company subleases certain properties to third parties. Sublease income is recognized on a straight-line basis and is 
immaterial.
 
As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the 
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company calculates the associated lease liability and corresponding ROU 
asset upon lease commencement using a discount rate based on a credit-adjusted secured borrowing rate commensurate with the term of the lease. As 
of March 31, 2024, the Company has no finance leases.
 
In April 2023, the Company modified the lease term for its principal executive offices located in Palo Alto, California. The modification extended the lease 
term for an additional three years, with the lease term expiring in September 2027. As a result of the modification, the Company recognized additional 
ROU assets and corresponding lease liabilities of $2.5 million. 
 
Lease expense was $0.3 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The lease expense included 
variable lease costs, sublease income and impairment, which were immaterial for the periods presented.
 
Supplemental quantitative information related to leases includes the following:
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2024   2023  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:       
Operating cash flows from operating leases (in thousands)  $ (277 )  $ (216 )
Weighted average remaining lease term in years — operating leases   3.4    1.4  
Weighted average discount rate — operating leases   11.0 %  11.8 %
 
Approximate future minimum lease payments under operating leases were as follows (in thousands):
 
  Amount  
2024 (Remainder of 2024)  $ 426  
2025   916  
2026   944  
2027   724  
Total lease payments   3,010  
Less imputed interest   (211 )
Total lease liabilities   2,799  
Less current portion of lease liability   731  
Lease liability, net of current portion  $ 2,068  
 
12. Net Loss Per Share
 
The following table sets forth the reconciliation of basic and diluted loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands 
except share and per share data):
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  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024   2023  
Net loss for basic and diluted loss per share available to common stockholders  $ (24,377 )  $ (30,753 )
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic   102,407    141,660  
Effect of dilutive securities   —    —  

Weighted average number of shares and assumed conversions - diluted   102,407    141,660  
Loss per share       
Basic and diluted  $ (0.24 )  $ (0.22 )

 
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of Common Stock and, if dilutive, potential Common Stock 
outstanding during the period. Potential Common Stock consist of the incremental Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 
warrants (using the treasury stock method or the reverse treasury stock method, as applicable). 
 
In the computation of net (loss) income per share, treasury shares are not included as part of the outstanding shares.
 
In accordance with FASB ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, Penny Warrants are warrants that would be exercised for no or little consideration and therefore 
should be included in the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding for purposes of calculating basic and diluted net income (loss) per share. 
The Closing Penny Warrants become exercisable upon the passage of time and are included in basic and diluted net income (loss) per share from the 
closing date of September 21, 2023. The Subsequent Penny Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 8,500,000 shares of Common Stock are not 
vested as of the closing date of September 21, 2023 and the vesting is based on the passage of time, the Company’s repayment of the Oramed Note or 
the occurrence of the Management Sale Trigger Date (as defined therein). Therefore, these Subsequent Penny Warrants are included in the computation 
for diluted net income per share once all other exercise contingencies are removed except for the passage of time.
 
The following potentially dilutive outstanding securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would have 
been anti-dilutive for the periods presented:
 

  March 31,   December 31,  
  2024   2023  
Stock options   33,267,137    33,123,798  
Public Warrants   6,854,309    6,854,309  
Firm Warrants   5,882,353    —  
Retainer Shares   4,000,000    4,000,000  
Private Warrants   3,613,383    3,613,383  
Representative Warrants   470,588    —  
Shares Issuable pursuant to ESPP   107,831    29,806  
Convertible Debentures   —    546,921  
Total   54,195,601    48,168,217  
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13. Subsequent Events
 
On April 23, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “RDO Purchase Agreement”) with the investor named therein, 
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue, in a registered direct offering (the “Registered Direct Offering”): (i) an aggregate of 15,000,000 
shares of Common Stock (the “RDO Shares”), and (ii) common warrants to purchase up to 15,000,000 shares of Common Stock (the “RDO Warrants”). 
The offering price per RDO Share and accompanying RDO Warrant to purchase one share of Common Stock was $1.00, for aggregate gross proceeds to 
the Company of $15,000,000, before deducting the placement agent fees and other offering expenses.
 
Subject to certain ownership limitations, the RDO Warrants are exercisable on the six-month anniversary from the date of issuance, will expire on the 
five-year anniversary of the date of issuance and have an exercise price of $1.10 per share. The exercise price of the RDO Warrants is subject to certain 
adjustments, including stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Common Stock.
 
StockBlock Securities LLC and its affiliate, Rodman & Renshaw LLC, acted as exclusive placement agents (the “Placement Agents”) in connection with 
the Registered Direct Offering. As compensation for such placement agent services, the Company paid the Placement Agents an aggregate cash fee 
equal to 8.0% of the gross proceeds actually received by the Company from the Registered Direct Offering. The Company also reimbursed the 
Placement Agents $100,000 for actual, reasonable and documented fees and expenses, inclusive of fees and expenses of legal counsel and out-of-
pocket expenses and $15,950 for clearing expenses. The Company has also agreed to issue to the Placement Agents or their respective designees 
common warrants, substantially in the form of the RDO Warrants, to purchase up to 1,200,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Placement Agent 
Warrants”), representing up to 8.0% of the total number of the RDO Shares issued in the Registered Direct Offering. The Placement Agent Warrants 
have an exercise price of $1.25 per share (which represents 125% of the combined offering price per share of Common Stock and the RDO Warrant sold 
in the Registered Direct Offering), will become exercisable on the six-month anniversary of the date of issuance and expire five years from the 
commencement of sales in the Registered Direct Offering.
 
The RDO Shares, the RDO Warrants, the Placement Agent Warrants and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants were 
offered and sold by the Company pursuant to the Shelf S-3 Registration Statement, a base prospectus dated January 11, 2024 and a prospectus 
supplement dated April 23, 2024. The Registered Direct Offering closed on April 25, 2024.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on 10-Q (this “Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q”) 
and our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 12, 2024 (the “Annual Report on Form 10-K”). In addition to historical information, 
this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially 
from these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors. We discuss factors that we believe could cause or contribute to these differences 
below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including those set forth in the sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q titled “Risk 
Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”. As a result of these risks, you should not replace undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law.
 
Overview
 
We are an innovative revenue-generating company focused on acquiring, developing and commercializing non-opioid management products for the 
treatment of acute and chronic pain. We believe that our innovative non-opioid product portfolio has the potential to provide effective pain management 
therapies that can have a transformative impact on patients’ lives. We target indications with high unmet needs and large market opportunities with non-
opioid therapies for the treatment of patients with acute and chronic pain and are dedicated to advancing and improving patient outcomes. We launched 
our first commercial product in October 2018 and are developing our late-stage pipeline. Our commercial product, ZTlido, is a prescription lidocaine 
topical product approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) for the relief of neuropathic pain associated with post-herpetic neuralgia 
(“PHN”), which is a form of post-shingles nerve pain. ZTlido possesses novel delivery and adhesion technology designed to address many of the 
limitations of current prescription lidocaine patches by providing significantly improved adhesion and continuous pain relief throughout the 12-hour 
administration period. We market ZTlido through a dedicated sales force of approximately 65 people, targeting 10,000 primary care physicians, pain 
specialists, neurologists and palliative care physicians who we believe treat the majority of PHN patients. We in-licensed the exclusive right to 
commercialize GLOPERBA (colchicine USP) oral solution, an FDA-approved prophylactic treatment for painful gout flares in adults, in the United States 
of America (“U.S.” or the “United States”). We expect to commercialize GLOPERBA in the first half of 2024 and believe we are well-positioned to market 
and distribute the product. In February 2023, we acquired the rights to patents, trademarks, regulatory approvals and other rights related to ELYXYB 
(celecoxib oral solution) and its commercialization in the U.S. and Canada. In April 2023, we launched ELYXYB in the U.S. for the treatment of acute 
migraine, with or without aura, in adults. We filed a New Drug Submission (“NDS”) to Health Canada’s Pharmaceutical Drugs Directorate, Bureau of 
Cardiology, Allergy and Neurological Sciences for the approval of ELYXYB for acute treatment of migraine with or without aura in Canada.
 
Our development pipeline consists of three product candidates, (i) SP-102 (“SEMDEXA”) (10 mg, dexamethasone sodium phosphate viscous gel), novel, 
viscous gel formulation of a widely used corticosteroid for epidural injections to treat lumbosacral radicular pain or sciatica with completed Phase 3 study, 
(ii) SP-103 (lidocaine topical system) 5.4%, a Phase 2, next-generation, triple-strength formulation of ZTlido, for the treatment of chronic neck pain and for 
which we have completed a Phase 2 trial in low back pain (“LBP”) in the third quarter of 2023, and (iii) SP-104 (4.5 mg, low-dose naltrexone 
hydrochloride delayed-release capsules), a novel low-dose delayed-release naltrexone hydrochloride formulation for treatment of fibromyalgia, for which 
Phase 1 trials were completed in the second quarter of 2022. 
 
SEMDEXA has been granted fast track designation by the FDA and, if approved, could become the first FDA-approved alternative to off-label epidural 
steroid injections, which are administered over 12 million times annually in the United States. We have completed a pivotal Phase 3 study with final 
results received in March 2022, which results reflected achievement of primary and secondary endpoints. SP-103 has also been granted fast track 
designation by the FDA for LBP. We received our SP-103 Phase 2 top-line results in August 2023 and the trial achieved its objectives characterizing 
safety, tolerability and preliminary efficacy of SP-103 in acute LBP associated with muscle spasms. SP-103 was safe and well tolerated. Increase of 
lidocaine load in topical system by three times, compared with approved ZTlido, 5.4% vs. 1.8%, did not result in signs of systemic toxicity or increased 
application site reactions with daily applications over one month treatment. We will continue to analyze the SP-103 Phase 2 trial data along 
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with an investigator study of ZTlido in patients with neck pain completed in the second half of 2023, which also has shown promising top-line efficacy and 
safety results. SP-103, if approved, could become the first FDA-approved lidocaine topical product for the treatment of chronic neck pain. SP-103 is a 
triple-strength lidocaine topical system designed to deliver a dose of lidocaine three times higher than any lidocaine topical product that we are aware of, 
either approved or in development. We are examining SP-103 as a treatment for chronic neck pain, a condition with high unmet need which we expect 
could affect over 20 million patients in the United States as of 2023. Once the data analysis has been completed from both studies, we will request end of 
Phase 2 meeting with the FDA to discuss next steps to Phase 3.
 
We currently contract with third parties for the manufacture, assembly, testing, packaging, storage and distribution of our products. We obtain our 
commercial supply of certain of our products, the clinical supply of our product candidates and certain of the raw materials used in our product candidates 
from sole or single source suppliers and manufacturers. Prior to April 2022, we relied on a single third-party logistics distribution provider, Cardinal Health 
105, for ZTlido distribution in the United States. Cardinal Health 105 purchased and shipped ZTlido to customer wholesale distribution centers. Cardinal 
Health 105 also performed order management services on our behalf. On April 2, 2022, we announced the expansion of our direct distribution network to 
national and regional wholesalers and pharmacies. Cardinal Health 105 will continue to provide traditional third-party logistics functions for us.
 
Since our inception, we have invested substantial efforts and financial resources on acquiring product and technology rights while building our intellectual 
property portfolio and infrastructure. In June 2022, we in-licensed the exclusive right to commercialize GLOPERBA oral solution, an FDA-approved 
prophylactic treatment for painful gout flares in adults, in the U.S. In February 2023, we acquired rights to FDA-approved ELYXYB in the U.S. and 
Canada for the acute treatment of migraine. We intend to continue to explore and evaluate additional opportunities such as these to grow our business. 
We have incurred significant operating losses as a result of such investment efforts, including the development of SEMDEXA, conducting of Phase 3 trials 
for SEMDEXA, and the development of SP-103 and SP-104. Our ability to generate revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the 
successful commercialization of our products, ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB, and the development of our product candidates. For the three months 
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a net loss of $24.4 million and $30.8 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit 
of approximately $514.6 million. As of March 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.8 million. Our management has concluded 
that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the unaudited condensed consolidated 
financial statements are issued. See Note 2 titled “Liquidity and Going Concern” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information.
 
We expect to continue to make investments in our sales and marketing organization and expand digital marketing efforts to broaden awareness of ZTlido, 
GLOPERBA and ELYXYB and in research and development, clinical trials and regulatory affairs to develop our product candidates, SEMDEXA, SP-103 
and SP-104. As a result, we will need substantial additional funding to support our continuing operations and pursue our growth strategy. Until we can 
generate significant revenue, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, 
government contracts or other strategic transactions. We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such agreements or arrangements when 
needed on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds on acceptable terms are not available when needed, we may be required to reduce the scope of 
the commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB or delay, scale back or discontinue the development of one or more of our product candidates.
 
Recent Developments
 
On April 23, 2024, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “RDO Purchase Agreement”) with the investor named therein, 
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue, in a registered direct offering (the “Registered Direct Offering”): (i) an aggregate of 15,000,000 
shares (the “RDO Shares”) of our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), and (ii) common warrants to purchase up to 
15,000,000 shares of Common Stock (the “RDO Warrants”). The offering price per Share and accompanying RDO Warrant to purchase 
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one share of Common Stock was $1.00, for aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of $15,000,000, before deducting the placement agent fees and 
other offering expenses.
 
Subject to certain ownership limitations, the RDO Warrants are exercisable on the six-month anniversary from the date of issuance, will expire on the 
five-year anniversary of the date of issuance and have an exercise price of $1.10 per share. The exercise price of the RDO Warrants is subject to certain 
adjustments, including stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Common Stock.
 
StockBlock Securities LLC and its affiliate, Rodman & Renshaw LLC acted as exclusive placement agents (the “Placement Agents”) in connection with 
the Registered Direct Offering. As compensation for such placement agent services, the Company paid the Placement Agents an aggregate cash fee 
equal to 8.0% of the gross proceeds actually received by the Company from the Registered Direct Offering. The Company also reimbursed the 
Placement Agents $100,000 for actual, reasonable and documented fees and expenses, inclusive of fees and expenses of legal counsel and out-of-
pocket expenses and $15,950 for clearing expenses. The Company has also agreed to issue to the Placement Agents or their respective designees 
common warrants, substantially in the form of the RDO Warrants, to purchase up to 1,200,000 shares of Common Stock (the “Placement Agent 
Warrants”), representing up to 8.0% of the total number of the RDO Shares issued in the Registered Direct Offering. The Placement Agent Warrants 
have an exercise price of $1.25 per share (which represents 125% of the combined offering price per share of Common Stock and the RDO Warrant sold 
in the Registered Direct Offering), will become exercisable on the six-month anniversary of the date of issuance and expire five years from the 
commencement of sales in the Registered Direct Offering.
 
The RDO Shares, the RDO Warrants, the Placement Agent Warrants and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants were 
offered and sold by the Company pursuant to an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (the “Shelf S-3 Registration Statement”) (which was 
initially filed with the SEC on December 22, 2023, as amended, and was declared effective on January 11, 2024 (File No. 333-276245)), a base 
prospectus dated January 11, 2024 and a prospectus supplement dated April 23, 2024. The Registered Direct Offering closed on April 25, 2024.
 
Sorrento Chapter 11 Filing
 
On February 13, 2023, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (“Sorrento”), together with its wholly-owned direct subsidiary, Scintilla Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
commenced voluntary proceedings under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas. The Chapter 11 proceedings are jointly administered under the caption In re Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc., et al. While we were majority-
owned by Sorrento, we were not a debtor in Sorrento’s voluntary Chapter 11 filing. Pursuant to that certain Stock Purchase Agreement that we entered 
into with Sorrento on September 21, 2023 (the “Sorrento SPA”), we repurchased shares of our Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock from 
Sorrento. As a result, Sorrento no longer holds a majority of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock entitled to vote. As of March 31, 2024, we 
had a $3.2 million receivable from Sorrento, which was fully reserved. We evaluate the collectability of this receivable on a quarterly basis.
 
Components of Our Results of Operations
 
Net Revenue
 
Net revenue consists of product sales of ZTlido and ELYXYB in the United States. For product sales of ZTlido and ELYXYB, we record gross-to-net sales 
adjustments for government and commercial rebates, chargebacks, wholesaler and distributor fees, sales returns, special marketing programs, and 
prompt payment discounts. We expect that any net revenue we generate will fluctuate from year to year as a result of the unpredictability of the demand 
for our product.
 
Operating Costs and Expenses
 
Cost of Revenue
 
Cost of revenue consists of the cost of purchasing ZTlido and ELYXYB from our manufacturing partners, inventory write-downs related to expiration dates 
for on-hand inventory, cost of shipments, and royalty payments to our manufacturers. We expect the cost of revenue to fluctuate with related sales 
revenue.
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Research and Development
 
Research and development expenses are expensed when incurred and consist primarily of costs incurred for our research activities, including the 
development of our product candidates, and include:
 

•costs related to clinical trials;
•salaries, benefits and other related costs, including stock-based compensation expense for personnel engaged in research and development 
functions; and
•costs related to outside consultants.

 
We expect our research and development expenses to increase, as we will incur incremental expenses associated with our product candidates that are 
currently under development and in clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs, 
primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. Accordingly, we expect to incur significant research and development 
expenses in connection with our clinical trials for SEMDEXA, SP-103 and SP-104.
 
Selling, General and Administrative
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs related to our contract sales force, salaries and other related costs, including 
stock-based compensation, for personnel in our executive, marketing, finance, corporate and business development and administrative functions. Selling, 
general and administrative expenses also include professional fees for legal, patent, accounting, auditing, tax and consulting services, travel expenses 
and facility-related expenses, which include direct depreciation costs, and allocated expenses from Sorrento for director and officer insurance as well as 
employee health benefits through the consummation of the transactions pursuant to the Sorrento SPA.
 
We expect that our selling, general and administrative expenses will vary year over year in the future as we adapt our commercial strategies to changes 
in the business environment. We also expect to incur increased expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses related to 
compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, listing standards applicable to companies listed on a national securities exchange, additional 
insurance expenses, investor relations activities and other administrative and professional services. We also expect to adjust the size of our 
administrative, finance and legal functions to adapt to the changes above and the anticipated growth of our business.
 
Intangible Amortization
 
Intangible amortization expense consists of the amortization expense of intangible assets recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. Our intangible assets, excluding goodwill, are composed of patent rights, acquired technology, acquired licenses and assembled 
workforce.
 
Legal Settlements
 
Legal settlements for the three months ended March 31, 2024 consist of gains on litigation settlements that were entered into during the first quarter of 
2024. See Note 11 titled “Commitments and Contingencies” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Other (Income) Expense
 
Loss (Gain) on Derivative Liability
 
Loss (Gain) on derivative liability includes the remeasurement of the warrant derivative liability. See Note 4 titled “Fair Value Measurements” to our 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
 
Change in Fair Value of Debt and Liability Instruments
 
Change in fair value of debt and liability instruments includes the remeasurement of the convertible debentures (the 
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“Convertible Debentures”) issued to YA II, Ltd. (“Yorkville”) pursuant to that certain securities purchase agreement dated as of March 21, 2023 and 
amended on October 11, 2023, between Yorkville and us (the “Yorkville SPA”) and a senior secured promissory note to Oramed Pharmaceuticals Inc. 
(“Oramed”) issued in September 2023 in the principal amount of $101.9 million (the “Oramed Note”). See Note 4 titled “Fair Value Measurements” to our 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Interest Expense
 
Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2024 consists of interest related to the loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30.0 
million (the “Revolving Facility”) made available by eCapital Healthcare Corp. pursuant to a Credit and Security Agreement (the “eCapital Credit 
Agreement”) that Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Scilex Pharma”) entered into on June 27, 2023. Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 was nil.
 
Loss (Gain) on Foreign Currency Exchange
 
Loss (gain) on foreign currency exchange relates to foreign exchange losses on payments made to our foreign supplier, Itochu Chemical Frontier 
Corporation (“Itochu”), a manufacturer and supplier of lidocaine tape products, including ZTlido and SP-103. 
 
Results of Operations
 
The following tables summarize our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,     
  2024   2023   Changes  
Statements of Operations Data:          
Net revenue  $ 10,884   $ 10,582   $ 302  
Operating costs and expenses:          

Cost of revenue   3,840    3,591    249  
Research and development   3,108    2,736    372  
Selling, general and administrative   29,278    28,701    577  
Intangible amortization   1,027    1,027    —  
Legal settlements   (6,891 )   —    (6,891 )

Total operating costs and expenses   30,362    36,055    (5,693 )
Loss from operations   (19,478 )   (25,473 )   5,995  

Other (income) expense:          
Loss on derivative liability   457    5,253    (4,796 )
Change in fair value of debt and liability instruments   3,905    —    3,905  
Interest expense, net   531    (1 )   532  
Loss on foreign currency exchange   6    20    (14 )

Total other expense   4,899    5,272    (373 )
Loss before income taxes   (24,377 )   (30,745 )   6,368  
Income tax expense   —    8    (8 )
Net loss  $ (24,377 )  $ (30,753 )  $ 6,376  
 
Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 and 2023
 
Net Revenue
 
Net revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $10.9 million and $10.6 million, respectively. The increase of $0.3 million was 
driven by the increase in gross product sales of ZTlido by approximately 28% and sales of ELYXYB commencing in April 2023, offset by an increase in 
rebates.
 
A cyberattack on Change Healthcare happened in February 2024, which caused a breakdown in processing of insurance claims by Change Healthcare. 
Since that time, we have been working with our co-pay savings card adjudicators to resolve that breakdown in processing. We are aware of the impact 
this disruption has had on our patients and customers and have been working diligently to resolve the issue. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q, co-pay savings card processing for ZTlido and ELYXYB has been restored to normal operations.
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Cost of Revenue
 
Cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $3.8 million and $3.6 million, respectively. The increase of $0.2 million was 
primarily due to an increase in gross revenue of approximately 34% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the three months ended 
March 31, 2023.
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
The following table summarizes research and development expenses by project for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2024   2023   
Increase 

(Decrease)  
SP-102          

Contracted R&D  $ 815   $ 189   $ 626  
Personnel   79    85    (6 )
Other   7    9    (2 )
Total SP-102   901    283    618  

SP-103          
Contracted R&D   407    1,312    (905 )
Personnel   340    320    20  
Other   50    223    (173 )
Total SP-103   797    1,855    (1,058 )

SP-104          
Contracted R&D   21    (14 )   35  
Personnel   165    134    31  
Other   18    25    (7 )
Total SP-104   204    145    59  

GLOPERBA          
Contracted R&D   211    67    144  
Personnel   194    179    15  
Other   22    22    —  
Total GLOPERBA   427    268    159  

ELYXYB          
Contracted R&D   233    15    218  
Personnel   281    151    130  
Other   265    19    246  
Total ELYXYB   779    185    594  

Total Research and Development Expenses  $ 3,108   $ 2,736   $ 372  
 
Research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $3.1 million and $2.7 million, respectively. The $0.4 
million increase was primarily attributed to chemistry, manufacturing and controls (“CMC”) costs of SP-102 and planning costs for post-marketing 
commitment clinical trial for ELYXYB, offset by reduced costs of the SP-103 clinical study.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $29.3 million and $28.7 million, respectively. 
The increase of approximately $0.6 million was primarily due to a $2.6 million increase in advisory and financing expenses, a $1.7 million increase in 
personnel expense due to increase in headcount and merit increase starting January 2024, a $0.4 million increase in travel expenses and a $1.1 million 
increase in other expenses in the three months ended March 31, 2024, offset by a $2.6 million decrease in legal fees, a $1.4 million decrease related to 
bad debt reserve that was made in March 2023 for the receivable from Sorrento, a $0.7 million decrease in contracted services and a $0.5 million 
decrease in insurance costs.
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Intangible Amortization Expense
 
Intangible amortization expense for each of the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.0 million.
 
Legal Settlements
 
Legal settlements for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $6.9 million and nil, respectively. The increase was attributed to litigation 
settlements that were entered into during the first quarter of 2024. See Note 11 titled “Commitments and Contingencies” to our unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Loss on Derivative Liability
 
Loss on derivative liability for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.5 million and $5.3 million, respectively. The loss recognized 
during the three months ended March 31, 2024 was attributed to the change in the fair value of the derivative warrant liability associated with the private 
placement warrants that we assumed from Vickers in November 2022 in connection with the Business Combination (the “Private Warrants”), the Firm 
Warrants and the Representatives Warrants (each as defined below) that were issued as part of the Bought Deal Offering (as defined below). The loss 
recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2023 was attributed to the change in the fair value of the derivative warrant liability associated with 
the Private Warrants. 
 
Change in Fair Value of Debt and Liability Instruments
 
Change in fair value of debt and liability instruments for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $3.9 million and nil, respectively. The 
change in fair value of $3.8 million during the three months ended March 31, 2024 was primarily attributed to the Oramed Note. The Convertible 
Debentures were issued in March and April 2023 in an aggregate principal amount of $25.0 million and were fully repaid as of March 31, 2024. The 
Oramed Note was issued in September 2023 in the principal amount of $101.9 million, of which the principal amount of $81.9 million remained 
outstanding as of March 31, 2024.
 
Interest Expense, Net
 
Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $0.5 million and nil, respectively. The increase was attributed to $0.5 million 
of interest related to the Revolving Facility.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
As of March 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.8 million.
 
We have funded our operations primarily through the Yorkville financing pursuant to the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement (as defined below), the B. 
Riley financing pursuant to the B. Riley Purchase Agreement (as defined below), the Revolving Facility and the issuance of the Convertible Debentures 
and financing pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement (as defined below). We also have indebtedness pursuant to the Oramed Note, the Revolving 
Facility as well as deferred consideration related to the GLOPERBA license acquired from Romeg in 2022. The following table summarizes the aggregate 
indebtedness of these issuances as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):
 

  March 31, 2024   December 31, 2023  
Oramed Note (Outstanding Principal Balance: $81.9 million and $96.9 million as of March 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, respectively)

 
$ 92,923   $ 104,089  

Convertible Debentures (Outstanding Principal Balance: nil and $4.4 million as of March 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, respectively)

 
$ —   $ 4,340  

Revolving Facility   16,323    17,038  
Deferred Consideration with Romeg   3,260    3,386  

Total indebtedness  $ 112,506   $ 128,853  
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The Oramed Note
 
As of March 31, 2024, we have $92.9 million outstanding under the Oramed Note pursuant to the Scilex-Oramed SPA (see Note 7 titled “Debt” to our 
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information).
 
Convertible Debentures
 
The Company fully repaid the Convertible Debentures in March 2024 (see Note 7 titled “Debt” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information).

 
Revolving Facility
 
As of March 31, 2024, we have $16.3 million outstanding under the Revolving Facility (see Note 7 titled “Debt” to our unaudited condensed consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information).
 
Deferred Consideration
 
As of March 31, 2024, we have $3.5 million of deferred consideration related to minimum royalty payments that were included in the initial measurement 
of consideration transferred for the GLOPERBA license. Deferred consideration minimum royalty payments began in July 2023.
 
ZTlido and ELYXYB Royalties
 
In February 2013, Scilex Pharma became a party to a product development agreement (as amended, the “Product Development Agreement”) with Itochu 
and Oishi Koseido Co., Ltd. (“Oishi” and together with Itochu, the “Developers”), pursuant to which the Developers will manufacture and supply lidocaine 
tape products, including ZTlido and SP-103, for Scilex Pharma. Pursuant to the Product Development Agreement, Scilex Pharma is required to make 
aggregate royalty payments between 25% and 35% to the Developers based on net profits. During the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, 
Scilex Pharma made royalty payments in the amount of $2.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, Scilex 
Pharma had ending balances of accrued royalty payables of $2.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively.
 
In February 2023, we entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire the rights to certain patents, trademarks, regulatory approvals, data, 
contracts, and other rights related to ELYXYB and its commercialization in the United States and Canada (the “ELYXYB Territory”). We are obligated to 
make quarterly royalty payments on net sales of ELYXYB in the ELYXYB Territory that range from high single digits to the low double digits on net sales 
based on the volume of sales. In April 2023, we launched ELYXYB in the U.S. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we made royalty 
payments in the amount of $4.3 thousand. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had ending balances of accrued royalty payables of $48.5 
thousand and $5.0 thousand, respectively.
 
Contingent Consideration
 
We have $280.0 million, $13.0 million and $23.0 million in aggregate contingent consideration obligations in connection with the SEMDEXA, GLOPERBA 
and SP-104 acquisitions (see Note 3 titled “Acquisitions” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information), respectively, that are contingent upon achieving certain specified milestones or the occurrence 
of certain events. Contingent consideration obligations are comprised of regulatory milestones and additional payments that will be due upon the 
achievement of certain amounts of net sales (see Note 3 titled “Acquisitions” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information).
 
Standby Equity Purchase Agreements
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On November 17, 2022, we entered into a standby equity purchase agreement (the “Original Purchase Agreement”) with Yorkville. On February 8, 2023, 
we entered into an amended and restated standby equity purchase agreement with Yorkville (the “A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement”), amending, 
restating and superseding the Original Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement, we had the right, but not the obligation, 
to sell to Yorkville up to $500.0 million of shares of Common Stock at our request during the 36 months following the date on which the initial registration 
statement filed with respect to the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant thereto was declared effective by the SEC, subject to the terms therein. 
The registration statement filed with the SEC in connection with the Original Purchase Agreement was initially declared effective by the SEC on 
December 9, 2022 and we were able to offer and sell shares of our Common Stock under that agreement, subject to the limitations set forth therein. 
During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we sold 96,982 shares of Common Stock under the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement for aggregate 
net proceeds of approximately $0.2 million. On, and effective as of, March 25, 2024, we and Yorkville mutually agreed to terminate the A&R Yorkville 
Purchase Agreement.
 
On January 8, 2023, we entered into a standby equity purchase agreement (the “B. Riley Purchase Agreement”, together with the A&R Yorkville 
Purchase Agreement, the “Standby Equity Purchase Agreements”) with B. Riley principal Capital II, LLC (“B. Riley”), pursuant to which we had the right, 
but not the obligation, to sell to B. Riley up to $500.0 million of shares of Common Stock at our request during the 36 months following the date on which 
the initial registration statement filed with respect to the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant thereto was declared effective by the SEC, subject to 
the terms therein. The registration statement filed with the SEC in connection with the B. Riley Purchase Agreement was initially declared effective by the 
SEC on January 20, 2023 and we were able to offer and sell shares of our Common Stock under that agreement, subject to the limitations set forth 
therein and the limitations set forth in the Convertible Debentures. During the three months ended March 31, 2024, we did not sell any shares of 
Common Stock under the B. Riley Purchase Agreement. On, and effective as of, February 16, 2024, we and B. Riley mutually agreed to terminate the B. 
Riley Purchase Agreement.
 
At-the-Market Sales Agreement
 
On December 22, 2023, we entered into a Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with B. Riley Securities, Inc., Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and 
H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (the “Sales Agents”). Pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement, we may offer and sell (the “Offering”) shares of Common Stock 
up to $170,000,000 (the “ATM Shares”), through or to the Sales Agents as part of the Offering. We have no obligation to sell any shares of Common 
Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement and may suspend offers at any time. The Offering will be terminated upon (i) the election of the Sales Agents 
upon the occurrence of certain adverse events, (ii) three business days’ advance notice from us to the Sales Agents or a Sales Agent to us, or (iii) the 
sale of all $170,000,000 of shares of Common Stock thereunder. The ATM Shares offered and sold in the Offering will be issued pursuant to our Shelf S-
3 Registration Statement. The ATM Shares may be offered only by means of a prospectus forming a part of the Shelf S-3 Registration Statement. The 
Sales Agents are entitled to a commission equal to 3.0% of the gross proceeds from each sale of shares of Common Stock. We will also reimburse the 
Sales Agents for certain expenses and have agreed to provide indemnification and contribution to the Sales Agents against certain civil liabilities, 
including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. As of March 31, 2024, we sold 92,295 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the ATM 
Sales Agreement for net proceeds of approximately $0.1 million.
 
Bought Deal Offering
 
On February 29, 2024, we entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with Rodman & Renshaw LLC and StockBlock 
Securities LLC, as the representatives (the “Representatives”) of the underwriters named in Schedule A (the “Underwriters”). Pursuant to the 
Underwriting Agreement, we agreed to sell, in an underwritten offering (the “Bought Deal Offering”), 5,882,353 shares (the “Firm Shares”) of the Common 
Stock, and accompanying common warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 5,882,353 shares of Common Stock (the “Firm Warrants”). Pursuant to 
the Underwriting Agreement, we also granted the Underwriters an option for a period of 30 days from the date of the Underwriting Agreement to purchase 
up to 882,352 additional shares of Common Stock (the “Optional Shares”, and together with the Firm Shares, the “Bought Deal Shares”) and/or common 
warrants to purchase up to 882,352 shares of Common Stock (the “Optional Warrants”, and together with the Firm Warrants, the “Common Warrants”) 
that may be purchased by the Underwriters, at a price per Optional Share of $1.5548 and a price per Optional Warrant of $0.0092, which amounts reflect 
the public offering price of $1.69 per Optional Share and $0.01 per Optional Warrant, less underwriting discounts and commissions, as applicable (the 
“Underwriters’ Option”). Each Firm Share was sold together with a Firm Warrant at a combined public offering price of $1.70. The combined price 
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per Firm Share and accompanying Firm Warrant paid by the Underwriters was $1.564, which amount reflects the combined public offering price of $1.70, 
less underwriting discounts and commissions.
 
Subject to certain ownership limitations, the Common Warrants are exercisable immediately from the date of issuance, will expire on the five-year 
anniversary of the date of issuance and have an exercise price of $1.70 per share. The exercise price of the Common Warrants is subject to certain 
adjustments, including (but not limited to) for stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Common Stock.
 
In connection with the Bought Deal Offering, we agreed, pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, to issue the Representatives warrants (the 
“Representative Warrants”, and together with the Common Warrants, the “Bought Deal Warrants”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 470,588 shares of 
Common Stock (which represents 8.0% of the aggregate number of Firm Shares sold in the Bought Deal Offering), or up to an aggregate of 541,176 
shares of Common Stock if the Underwriters exercise the Underwriters’ Option in full. The Representative Warrants are immediately exercisable and 
have the same terms as the Common Warrants described above, except that the exercise price of the Representative Warrants is $2.125 per share, 
which represents 125% of the combined public offering price per Firm Share and accompanying Firm Warrant. We also agreed to pay certain expenses 
of the Representatives in connection with the Bought Deal Offering, including their legal fees and out-of-pocket expenses up to $200,000 and up to 
$15,950 for clearing expenses.
 
The Bought Deal Shares, the Bought Deal Warrants and the shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the Bought Deal Warrants were offered 
and sold by us pursuant to the Shelf S-3 Registration Statement, a base prospectus dated January 11, 2024, and a final prospectus supplement dated 
February 29, 2024.
 
Future Liquidity Needs
 
We have based our anticipated operating capital requirements on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect and we may use all our available capital 
resources sooner than we expect. The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, some of which are outside of 
our control, including but not limited to:
 

•the costs and expenses associated with our ongoing commercialization efforts for ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB;
•the degree of success we experience in commercializing ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB;
•the revenue generated by sales of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and other products that may be approved, if any;
•the scope, progress, results and costs of conducting studies and clinical trials for our product candidates, SEMDEXA, SP-103 and SP-104;
•the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates;
•the costs of manufacturing ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and our product candidates;
•the timing and amount of any milestone, royalty or other payments we are required to make pursuant to any current or future collaboration or 
license agreements;
•our ability to maintain existing, and establish new, strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of any such 
agreements, including the timing and amount of any future milestone, royalty or other payments due under any such agreement;
•the extent to which ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or any of our product candidates, if approved for commercialization, is adopted by the 
physician community;
•our need to expand our research and development activities;
•the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in businesses, product candidates and technologies;
•the effect of competing products and product candidates and other market developments;
•the number and types of future products we develop and commercialize;
•any product liability or other lawsuits related to our products;
•the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel;
•the costs associated with being a public company;
•our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems;
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•the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property-related claims; 
and
•the extent and scope of our general and administrative expenses.

 
Should our sales of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and other product candidates not materialize at the anticipated rate contemplated in our business plan, 
we will need to raise additional capital in order to continue to fund our research and development, including our plans for clinical and preclinical trials and 
new product development, as well as to fund operations generally. We will seek to raise additional funds through various potential sources, such as 
equity and debt financings and license agreements. As discussed above, we entered into the A&R Yorkville Purchase Agreement (which was terminated 
in March 2024), the B. Riley Purchase Agreement (which was terminated in February 2024), the Yorkville SPA (pursuant to which the Convertible 
Debentures were fully repaid in March 2024), the eCapital Credit Agreement, the ATM Sales Agreement, the Underwriting Agreement and the RDO 
Purchase Agreement. The Shelf S-3 Registration Statement was initially declared effective by the SEC on January 11, 2024, and we are now able to 
offer and sell shares of our Common Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement, subject to any limitations set forth therein, and may conduct additional 
offerings in the future similar to those conducted pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement and the RDO Purchase Agreement, in each case, which will 
provide us with an additional source of liquidity.
 
In addition to the liquidity provided by revenue generating products and the issuance of the Common Stock under the ATM Sales Agreement, the 
Underwriting Agreement and the RDO Purchase Agreement, as of March 31, 2024 we will receive up to an aggregate of approximately $120.4 million 
from the exercise of the Private Warrants and public warrants to purchase Common Stock (the “Public Warrants”, and together with the Private Warrants, 
the “ SPAC Warrants”) (at an exercise price of $11.50 per share of Common Stock), assuming the exercise in full of all of the SPAC Warrants for cash, 
but will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the shares of our Common Stock issuable upon such exercise. However, our ability to generate 
proceeds will depend on the market price of our Common Stock. If the price of our Common Stock remains below $11.50 per share, we believe warrant 
holders will be unlikely to cash exercise their SPAC Warrants, resulting in little or no cash proceeds to us.
 
We can give no assurances that we will be able to secure additional sources of funds to support our operations on acceptable terms, or at all, or, if such 
funds are available to us, that such additional financing will be sufficient to meet our needs. These conditions, among others, raise substantial doubt 
about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or convertible debt securities, including pursuant to the ATM 
Sales Agreement, or as we have done pursuant to the Oramed Note, it could result in dilution to our existing stockholders or increased fixed payment 
obligations. In addition, as a condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be granted, rights superior to those of 
existing stockholders. If we incur additional indebtedness, we could become subject to covenants that would restrict our operations and potentially impair 
our competitiveness, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights 
and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Additionally, any future collaborations we enter into with 
third parties may provide capital in the near term but we may have to relinquish valuable rights to ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB, or our product 
candidates or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. Any of the foregoing could significantly harm our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may be required to reduce the 
scope of the commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA or ELYXYB or delay, scale back or discontinue the development of one or more of our product 
candidates.
 
We may also need to take certain other actions to allow us to maintain our projected cash and projected financial position including but not limited to, 
additional reductions in general and administrative costs, sales and marketing costs, suspension or winding down of clinical development programs for 
SP-102, SP-103 and SP-104 and other discretionary costs. Although we believe such plans, if executed and coupled with the above described sources of 
liquidity, should provide us with financing to meet our needs, successful completion of such plans is dependent on factors outside of our control.
 
We anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses into the foreseeable future as we support our clinical development to expand approved indications, 
continue our development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our product candidates, and expand our corporate infrastructure. As a result, we have 
concluded that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the unaudited condensed 
consolidated financial statements are issued. See Note 2 titled “Liquidity and Going Concern” to our unaudited 
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condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information. Our existing cash and 
cash equivalents, proceeds from the Revolving Facility, proceeds from the issuance of the Oramed Note, the issuance of the Common Stock pursuant to 
the ATM Sales Agreement, and proceeds from the Bought Deal Offering and the Registered Direct Offering may be insufficient to enable us to fund our 
operating expenses, capital expenditure requirements, and to service our debt obligations (whether under the Oramed Note or otherwise) for at least the 
next 12 months. If these sources are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to raise additional funds through equity offerings, debt 
financings, collaborations, government contracts or other strategic transactions.
 
Cash Flows
 
The following table summarizes our cash flows for each of the periods presented (in thousands):
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2024   2023  

Cash Flow Data:       
Net cash proceeds from (used for) operating activities  $ 9,391   $ (7,744 )
Net cash used for investing activities   (150 )   —  
Net cash (used for) proceeds from financing activities   (11,196 )   10,629  
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ (1,955 )  $ 2,885  
 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2024, net cash proceeds from operating activities were approximately $9.3 million, attributable to our net loss of 
$24.4 million, partially offset by other non-cash reconciling items of $10.6 million related to loss on derivative liabilities, stock-based compensation, 
change in fair value of debt and liability instruments, depreciation and amortization and non-cash operating lease cost, and changes in operating assets 
and liabilities that provided $23.1 million of cash.
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2023, net cash used for operating activities was approximately $7.7 million, attributable to our net loss of $30.8 
million, partially offset by other non-cash reconciling items of $10.2 million related to loss on derivative liabilities, stock-based compensation, depreciation 
and amortization and non-cash operating lease cost and changes in operating assets and liabilities that provided $12.9 million of cash.
 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2024, net cash used for investing activities was approximately $0.2 million, 
related to payments of deferred consideration for Romeg intangible asset acquisition.
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2023, net cash used for investing activities was nil.
 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2024, net cash used for financing activities was approximately $11.2 million and was primarily related to $32.6 
million in gross proceeds from the Revolving Facility, $10.0 million in gross proceeds from issuance of shares under the Bought Deal Offering, $0.2 
million in proceeds from the Standby Equity Purchase Agreements, partially offset by the $52.7 million repayment of borrowings under the Revolving 
Facility, Oramed Note, and Convertible Debentures and the $1.3 million payment of transaction costs related to the Bought Deal Offering.
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $10.6 million and was primarily related to $9.6 
million in proceeds from the Convertible Debentures and $1.7 million in proceeds from Standby Equity Purchase Agreements, partially offset by $0.7 
million payment of the transaction costs related to the Business Combination.
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
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This management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our unaudited condensed consolidated 
financial statements which are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation 
of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We continually evaluate our estimates and judgments and base them on historical 
experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Materially different results can occur as circumstances change 
and additional information becomes known.
 
There have been no material changes in our critical accounting estimates as compared to the critical accounting estimates disclosed in the section titled 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operations” included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 1 titled “Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation” of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included in the Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.
 
Emerging Growth Company
 
An “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the 
“JOBS Act”), is eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are 
not emerging growth companies. Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or 
revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective 
or do not have a class of securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) are required to comply with 
the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and 
comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have irrevocably elected 
not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the same new or revised accounting 
standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. As a result, changes in GAAP or  their interpretation, the adoption of new 
guidance or the application of existing guidance to changes in Scilex’s business could significantly affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.
 
In addition, we are in the process of evaluating the benefits of relying on the other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS 
Act. Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various 
reporting requirements and other burdens that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions include, but are not limited to:
 

•an exemption from compliance with the requirement to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on the assessment of our internal 
control over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”);
•an exemption from compliance with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory 
audit firm rotation;
•reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements; and
•exemptions from the requirements of holding non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements.

 
Scilex qualifies and will remain as an emerging growth company until the earlier of (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of 
the closing of the initial Public offering, (b) in which Scilex has total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion, or (c) in which Scilex is deemed to be 
a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of the common equity of Scilex that is held by non-affiliates equals or exceeds $700 million as of 
the last business day of its most recently completed second fiscal quarter; and (ii) the date on which Scilex has issued more than $1.00 billion in non-
convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period. References herein to “emerging growth company” have the meaning associated with it in 
the JOBS Act.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 
There have been no material changes in our market risk during the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to the disclosures in Part II, Item 7A 
of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the 
Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s regulations, rules and forms and that 
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal officers, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure.
 
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its 
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. As required by Rule 13a-15(b) promulgated by the SEC under 
the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Principal Executive 
Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the 
period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on the foregoing, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded 
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems 
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Accordingly, our 
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of our control system are met. Projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the 
quarter ended March 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
 
The information set forth under the caption “Litigation” in Note 11 “Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes accompanying the Unaudited 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
 
Investing in our Common Stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully consider the risks described 
herein, as well as the risks and uncertainties discussed above under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”, before deciding whether 
to invest in our common stock. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2024, in Part I–
Item 1A, Risk Factors, describes important risk factors that could cause our business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and growth 
prospects to differ materially from those indicated or suggested by forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or presented 
elsewhere by management from time to time. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes in the risk factors that appear in Part I–
Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 12, 2024. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may become material and adversely affect our business.
 
Risks Related to our Limited Operating History, Financial Condition and Capital Requirements
 
We currently have two commercial products (with our third, GLOPERBA, expected to launch in the first half of 2024), ZTlido and ELYXYB; but 
we are currently heavily dependent on the commercial success of ZTlido, as ELYXYB is in the initial stages of commercialization and we have 
not yet launched GLOPERBA, and we may be unable to generate sufficient revenue to support our operations. 
 
We currently have two commercial products (with our third, GLOPERBA, expected to launch in the first half of 2024), ZTlido and ELYXYB; but we are 
currently heavily dependent upon ZTlido sales to generate revenue, as ELYXYB is in the initial stages of commercialization and we have not yet 
launched GLOPERBA. In February 2018, we obtained FDA regulatory approval for ZTlido for the relief of neuropathic pain associated with post-herpetic 
neuralgia (“PHN”) in adults, which is a form of post-shingles nerve pain, and we began commercializing ZTlido in the United States in October 2018. In 
late February 2023, we acquired ELYXYB, a potential first-line treatment and the only FDA-approved, ready-to-use oral solution for the acute treatment of 
migraine, with or without aura, in adults, in the U.S. We launched ELYXYB in April of 2023. As a result, it is difficult to evaluate our current business and 
predict our future prospects. We cannot assure that ZTlido or ELYXYB will gain market acceptance among physicians, health care payors, patients and 
the medical community, which is critical to our commercial success. We have limited experience engaging in commercial activities and limited 
relationships with physicians, hospitals and payors. Market acceptance of ZTlido and ELYXYB and following its launch, GLOPERBA, depends on a 
number of factors, including:
 

•acceptance by physicians, major operators of clinics and patients of ZTlido and ELYXYB, and following its launch, GLOPERBA, as a safe and 
effective treatment for the relief of neuropathic pain associated with PHN (ZTlido), acute migraine pain (ELYXYB), and prevention of gout flares 
(GLOPERBA); 
•the availability, cost and potential advantages of alternative treatments, including less expensive generic products; 
•the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts; 
•the availability of coverage, adequacy of reimbursement and favorability of pricing policies by third-party payors and government authorities; 
•the timing of market introduction of other competitive products; 
•the product labeling or any product inserts required by the FDA; and 
•the prevalence and severity of adverse side effects. 

 
To successfully commercialize ZTlido, ELYXYB and GLOPERBA (which we expect to launch in the first half of 2024), we will need to expand our 
marketing efforts to develop new relationships and expand existing relationships. Physicians may decide not to prescribe ZTlido, ELYXYB or GLOPERBA 
for a variety of reasons, including changes in available offerings, adverse publicity, perceived safety issues, inadequate coverage or reimbursement for 
ZTlido, ELYXYB or GLOPERBA or the utilization of products developed by other parties, all of which are circumstances outside of our control. Demand 
for ZTlido may not increase, or may not develop for ELYXYB or GLOPERBA, as quickly as we predict, and we may be unable to increase our revenue to 
the level that we currently expect. Even if we succeed in increasing market acceptance of ZTlido or developing market acceptance of ELYXYB and 
GLOPERBA, and maintaining and creating relationships with physicians, we may be unable to reach or sustain a level of profitability. 
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Our ability to effectively promote ZTlido, ELYXYB and GLOPERBA will also depend on pricing and cost-effectiveness, including our ability to produce and 
market our products at a competitive price. In addition, our efforts to educate the medical community and third-party payors on the benefits of ZTlido, 
ELYXYB and GLOPERBA may require significant resources, may be constrained by FDA rules and policies on product promotion and may never be 
successful. 
 
We have a limited operating history and have incurred significant losses since our inception. We anticipate that we will incur continued losses 
for the foreseeable future. 
 
We have a limited operating history. Prior to March 2019, our operations were conducted through Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Scilex Pharma”), which 
was formed in September 2012 and is now our wholly owned subsidiary. In March 2019, we effected a corporate reorganization and acquired Semnur, 
which was formed in June 2013. Since our inception, we have focused on organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising capital, 
identifying potential non-opioid pain therapy candidates, undertaking preclinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates and establishing 
research and development and manufacturing collaborations. Most of our revenue to date is attributable to sales of ZTlido, and we expect that sales of 
ZTlido will account for most of our revenue for at least the near term. Our relatively short operating history as a company makes any assessment of our 
future success and viability subject to significant uncertainty. 
 
Investment in biopharmaceutical product development is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and significant risk 
that any potential product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effect or an acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval and become 
commercially viable. We will encounter risks and difficulties frequently experienced by early-stage biopharmaceutical companies in rapidly evolving fields, 
and we have not yet demonstrated an ability to overcome such risks and difficulties successfully. Our ability to execute on our business model and 
generate revenues depends on a number of factors including our ability to: 
 

•successfully complete ongoing pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and obtain regulatory approvals for our current and future product candidates; 
•identify new acquisition or in-licensing opportunities; 
•successfully identify new product candidates and advance those product candidates into pre-clinical studies and clinical trials; 
•raise additional funds when needed and on terms acceptable to us; 
•attract and retain experienced management and advisory teams; 
•add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support clinical, pre-clinical manufacturing 
and planned future commercialization efforts and operations; 
•launch commercial sales of our product candidates, whether alone or in collaboration with others; 
•initiate and continue relationships with third-party suppliers and manufacturers and have commercial quantities of product candidates 
manufactured at acceptable cost and quality levels and in compliance with the FDA and other regulatory requirements; 
•set acceptable prices for product candidates and obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors; 
•achieve market acceptance of product candidates in the medical community and with third-party payors and consumers; and 
•maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio. 

 
If we cannot successfully execute any one of the foregoing, our business may not succeed or become profitable. 
 
Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses, with net losses of $114.3 million, $23.4 million and $88.4 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we had net losses of $24.4 million and $30.8 
million, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $514.6 million and $490.2 million, 
respectively. For the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to incur significant expenses related to the commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA and 
ELYXYB and the research and development of our product candidates, SP-102 (10 mg dexamethasone sodium phosphate viscous gel) (“SEMDEXA”), 
SP-103 (lidocaine topical system) 5.4% (“SP-103”), and SP-104 (4.5mg, low-dose naltrexone hydrochloride delayed-release capsules) (“SP-104”). We 
anticipate that our 
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expenses will increase substantially due to any future trials related to SEMDEXA and SP-103 and initiation of the Phase 2 clinical trial for SP-104. 
Consequently, we expect to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future and may never become profitable. 
 
We are subject to risks incidental to the development of new biopharmaceutical products, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, 
complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or 
increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our 
research and development efforts, expand our business or continue our operations. 
 
If we are unable to raise capital through a registered offering, we would be required to conduct our equity financing transactions on a private placement 
basis, which may be subject to pricing, size and other limitations imposed under the Nasdaq Listing Rules, or seek other sources of capital. 
 
The terms of the Oramed Note place restrictions on our operating and financial flexibility.
 
On September 21, 2023 (the “Oramed Closing Date”), we issued and sold to Oramed a senior secured promissory note due 18 months from the date of 
issuance, in the principal amount of $101,875,000 (the “Oramed Note”) pursuant to that certain securities purchase agreement we entered into with 
Oramed, dated as of September 21, 2023 (the “Scilex-Oramed SPA”). The Oramed Note matures on March 21, 2025 and is payable in six principal 
installments, with the first installment in the principal amount of $5,000,000 paid on December 21, 2023, the second installment in the principal amount of 
$15,000,000 voluntarily paid early on March 14 and March 18, 2024, and the next three installments each in the principal amount of $20,000,000 payable 
on each of June 21, 2024, September 21, 2024 and December 21, 2024 and the last installment in the entire remaining principal balance of the Oramed 
Note payable on March 21, 2025. Interest under the Oramed Note accrues at a fluctuating per annum interest rate equal to the sum of (1) greater of (x) 
four percent (4%) and (y) Term SOFR (as defined in the Oramed Note) and (2) eight and one-half percent (8.5%), payable in-kind on a monthly basis.
 
Pursuant to the Oramed Note, since the outstanding principal of the Oramed Note was not repaid in full on or prior to March 21, 2024, an exit fee of 
$3,056,250 has been earned with respect to the Oramed Note, which shall be due and payable on the date on which the outstanding principal amount of 
the Oramed Note is paid in full. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default under the Oramed Note, holders of more than 
50% of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Oramed Notes may elect to cause all outstanding amounts under the Oramed Note to accrue 
interest at a default rate equal to the lesser of (i) Term SOFR plus fifteen percent (15%) or (ii) the maximum rate permitted under applicable law.
 
Any voluntary prepayments of the Oramed Note occurring prior to the one-year anniversary of the Oramed Closing Date are required to be paid together 
with a make-whole amount equal to 50% of the amount of additional interest that would accrue on the principal amount so prepaid under the Oramed 
Note from the date of such prepayment through and including the maturity date. The make-whole amount was waived by Oramed for our voluntary 
prepayments in March 2024. If the Oramed Note is accelerated upon an event of default, we are required to repay the principal amount of the Oramed 
Note at a mandatory default rate of 125% of such principal amount (together with 100% of accrued and unpaid interest thereon and all other amounts due 
in respect of the Oramed Note). The Oramed Note contains mandatory prepayment provisions requiring us and our subsidiaries to, following the earlier of 
(x) April 1, 2024, and (y) the date on which the Acceptable Indebtedness (as defined in the Oramed Note) is repaid in full, use 70% of the net cash 
proceeds of any Cash Sweep Financing (as defined in the Oramed Note) or advance under the ELOCs (as defined in the Oramed Note) to prepay the 
outstanding principal amount of the Oramed Note (the “Mandatory Prepayment Sweep”). Following the Registered Direct Offering, we made a mandatory 
prepayment of $9,578,835 to Oramed, which equals 70% of the net cash proceeds we received from the Registered Direct Offering. Given such payment 
was not a voluntary prepayment, such prepayment did not trigger the make-whole amount under the Oramed Note.
 
The Oramed Note contains affirmative and negative covenants binding on us and our subsidiaries which restrict, among other things, us and our 
subsidiaries from incurring indebtedness or liens, amending charter and organizational documents, repaying or repurchasing stock, repaying, 
repurchasing, or acquiring indebtedness, paying or declaring cash dividends, assigning, selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of assets, making or 
holding investments, entering into transactions with affiliates, and entering into settlement agreements, in each case as more fully set forth 
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in, and subject to certain qualifications, exceptions, and “baskets” set forth in the Oramed Note. The Oramed Note also contains covenants requiring us 
to maintain a segregated bank account under specific terms and conditions, for purposes of receiving the Mandatory Prepayment Sweep, requiring 
SCLX Stock Acquisition JV LLC, our indirect wholly owned subsidiary (“SCLX JV”), to comply with the separateness representations and covenants in its 
organizational documents, and requiring our subsidiary, SCLX DRE Holdings LLC, to maintain its status as a passive holding company.
 
The Oramed Note contains certain customary events of default, including, without limitation, a cross-default to other specified indebtedness or any other 
indebtedness involving an obligation of greater than $1,000,000, as well as an event of default upon a Change of Control Transaction or Fundamental 
Transaction (in each case, as defined in the Oramed Note). See the risk factor titled “We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle 
the Oramed Note in cash upon a change of control or other event of default, and any future debt may contain limitations on our ability to pay cash” for 
additional information regarding such event of default provisions. The Oramed Note also contains additional events of default with respect to certain 
events relating to our obligations under that certain registration rights agreement, dated as of September 21, 2023, between us and Oramed and relating 
to (i) the warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 13,000,000 shares of Common Stock, with an exercise price of $0.01 per share (the “Penny 
Warrants”), that we issued to Oramed pursuant to the Scilex-Oramed SPA, (ii) the warrants to purchase up to 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock, with 
an exercise price of $11.50 per share (the “Transferred Warrants”), that we transferred to Oramed pursuant to the Scilex-Oramed SPA and/or (iii) the 
shares of Common Stock underlying the Penny Warrants or Transferred Warrants, in each case as more fully set forth in the Oramed Note.
 
In addition, failure to comply with the covenants under the Oramed Note could result in an event of default. The events of default include, among others, 
a change of control of the Company. Upon an event of default, subject to notice requirements in the case of certain events of default, all amounts 
outstanding under the Oramed Note may become immediately due and payable. We may not have sufficient funds or may be unable to arrange for 
additional financing to repay such indebtedness or to make any accelerated payments, and Oramed could seek to enforce its security interests in the 
collateral securing such indebtedness or other remedies available to it under the Oramed Note or as provided by applicable law. Oramed could also seek 
to enforce the guaranty under the Subsidiary Guarantee entered into by us and each of our subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantors”), dated as of 
September 21, 2023, to carry out our payment obligations under the Oramed Note. Any failure by us to comply with the obligations under the Oramed 
Note could have a negative effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
Our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness we may incur, combined with our other financial obligations, could increase our vulnerability 
to adverse changes in general economic, industry and market conditions, limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and 
the industry and impose a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or better debt servicing options. If we raise 
additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any new debt could further restrict our ability to operate our business.
 
We will require substantial additional funding, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 
 
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to significantly increase our spending to continue our 
commercialization efforts for ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB, advance development of our current product candidates and launch and commercialize 
any product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval. Furthermore, we expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public 
company. We will also require additional capital to fund our other operating expenses and capital expenditures. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents were approximately $1.8 million and we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $514.6 million. 
The amount and timing of our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, some of which are outside of our control, including but not limited 
to: 
 

•the costs and expenses associated with our ongoing commercialization efforts for ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB; 
•the degree of success we experience in commercializing ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB; 
•the revenue generated by sales of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and other products that may be approved, if any; 
•the scope, progress, results and costs of conducting studies and clinical trials for our product candidates, SEMDEXA, SP-103 and SP-104; 
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•the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our product candidates; 
•the costs of manufacturing ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and our product candidates; 
•the timing and amount of any milestone, royalty or other payments we are required to make pursuant to any current or future collaboration or 
license agreements; 
•our ability to maintain existing, and establish new, strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of any such 
agreements, including the timing and amount of any future milestone, royalty or other payments due under any such agreement; 
•the extent to which ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or any of our product candidates, if approved for commercialization, is adopted by the physician 
community; 
•our need to expand our research and development activities; 
•the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in businesses, product candidates and technologies; 
•the effect of competing products and product candidates and other market developments; 
•the number and types of future products we develop and commercialize; 
•any product liability or other lawsuits related to our products; 
•the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel; 
•the costs associated with being a public company; 
•our need to implement additional internal systems and infrastructure, including financial and reporting systems; 
•the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications and maintaining, enforcing and defending intellectual property-related claims; 
and 
•the extent and scope of our general and administrative expenses. 

 
Until we are able to generate significant revenue, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, 
collaborations, government contracts or other strategic transactions. We cannot be sure that any additional funding, if needed, will be available on terms 
favorable to us, or at all. Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our 
ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates. Furthermore, any additional equity or equity-related financing may be dilutive to our 
stockholders, and debt or equity financing, if available, may subject us to restrictive covenants and significant interest costs. If we raise additional funds 
through collaborations or strategic alliances with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates, future revenue 
streams, research programs or technologies, or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unsuccessful in our efforts to raise 
additional financing on acceptable terms, we may be required to significantly reduce or cease our operations. 
 
Our recurring losses from operations, negative cash flows and substantial cumulative net losses raise substantial doubt about our ability to 
continue as a going concern. 
 
In Note 2 titled “Liquidity and Going Concern” of our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q, we disclose that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have negative working capital and have 
incurred significant operating losses and negative cash flows from operations and expect to continue incurring losses for the foreseeable future. Further, 
we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $514.6 million as of March 31, 2024 and approximately $490.2 million as of December 31, 2023. These 
conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not 
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
 
Our ability to become a profitable operating company is dependent upon our ability to generate revenue and obtain financing adequate to fulfill our 
development and commercialization activities, and achieving a level of revenue adequate to support our cost structure. We have plans to obtain 
additional resources to fund our currently planned operations and expenditures through additional debt and equity financing. We will need to seek 
additional financing to fund our current operations, including the commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB, as well as the development of 
our other material product candidates for the next 12 months. Our plans are substantially dependent upon the success of future sales of ZTlido and 
ELYXYB, among which ELYXYB is still in the early stages of commercialization, and are dependent upon, among other things, the success of our 
marketing of ZTlido and ELYXYB and our ability to secure additional payor contracts with terms that are consistent with our business plan. If we are 
unable to obtain sufficient funding, our financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected and we may be unable to 
continue as a going concern. Future financial statements may disclose substantial 
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doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we seek additional financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains 
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, investors or other financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional funding to us 
on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
 
Risks Related to our Commercial Operations and Product Development 
 
We face potential business disruptions and related risks resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, or SARS-CoV-2, was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. SARS-CoV-2 is the virus that causes 
COVID-19. The COVID-19 outbreak grew into a global pandemic that caused extreme fluctuations in available liquidity globally. The pandemic also led to 
a decline in business and consumer confidence, which is still recovering. The rebound from COVID-19 continues to rapidly evolve and presents some 
element of economic and other uncertainty.

We continue to monitor the lasting impact of the COVID-19 outbreak, and if COVID-19 and its variants of concern or other viruses spread globally, 
including in the United States, we may experience disruptions that could severely impact the development of our product candidates, including: 
 

•delays or difficulties in enrolling patients in our clinical trials as patients may be reluctant, or unable, to visit clinical sites; 
•delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators, clinical site staff and potential closure of 
clinical facilities; 
•decreases in patients seeking treatment for chronic pain; 
•delays in receiving approval from local regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical trials; 
•delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct our clinical trials, including interruption in global shipping that may 
affect the transport of clinical trial materials; 
•changes in local regulations as part of a response to an outbreak, which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical trials are 
conducted, which may result in unexpected costs, or cause us to discontinue the clinical trials altogether; 
•diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites and 
hospital staff supporting the conduct of our clinical trials; 
•risk that participants enrolled in our clinical trials will acquire a virus while the clinical trial is ongoing, which could impact the results of the clinical 
trial, including by increasing the number of observed adverse events; 
•delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and contractors due to limitations in 
employee resources or forced furlough of government employees; and 
•interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal or 
state governments, employers and others.

 
The lasting effects of COVID-19 or arrival of another public health emergency may materially affect the Company economically. While the potential 
economic impact brought by, and the duration of, such event may be difficult to assess or predict, a widespread pandemic could result in significant 
disruption of global financial markets, which could in the future negatively affect our liquidity. In addition, a recession or market correction resulting, at 
least in part, from the COVID-19 public health emergency could materially affect our business and the value of our Common Stock. 
 
In addition, the continued spread of COVID-19 or the emergence of another significant public health emergency globally could materially and adversely 
impact our operations, including without limitation, our manufacturing and supply chain, sales and marketing efforts, sales of ZTlido, GLOPERBA and 
ELYXYB, travel and employee health and availability, which may have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
 
Even if we complete the necessary clinical trials, we cannot predict when, or if, we will obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates 
and the approval may be for a more narrow indication than we seek. 
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We cannot commercialize our product candidates until the appropriate regulatory authorities have reviewed and approved the product candidates. The 
process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state and local statutes and regulations require the 
expenditure of substantial time and financial resources and we may not be able to obtain the required regulatory approvals. Even if our product 
candidates meet the safety and efficacy endpoints in clinical trials, the data may not be considered sufficient by regulatory authorities, those regulatory 
authorities may not complete their review processes in a timely manner, or we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval. Additional delays may result 
if an FDA advisory committee is convened, including if such advisory committee recommends non-approval or restrictions on approval. In addition, we 
may experience delays or rejections based upon additional government regulation from future legislation or administrative action or changes in regulatory 
authority policy or data requirements during the period of product development, clinical trials and the regulatory review process. 
 
Even if we receive regulatory approval, the FDA may approve a product candidate for more limited indications than requested or they may impose 
significant limitations in the form of narrow indications, black box warnings or a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”). The FDA may require 
labeling that includes warnings and precautions or contra-indications with respect to conditions of use, or may grant approval subject to the performance 
of costly post-marketing clinical trials. In addition, the FDA may not approve the labeling claims that are considered necessary or desirable for the 
successful commercialization of our product candidates. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our product 
candidates. 
 
Additionally, if the results of any clinical trials are inconclusive or if there are safety concerns or serious adverse events associated with our product 
candidates, we may: 
 

•be delayed or fail in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates; 
•obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as we intended or desired; 
•obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings; 
•be subject to changes in the way the products are administered;
•be required to perform additional clinical trials to support approval or be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; 
•have regulatory authorities withdraw, or suspend, their approval of the product or impose restrictions on its distribution in the form of a modified 
REMS; 
•be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; or 
•experience damage to our reputation.

 
The third-party payor coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain coverage 
and adequate reimbursement for ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product candidates, if approved, could decrease our ability to generate 
product revenue. 
 
There is significant uncertainty related to the third-party coverage and reimbursement of existing and newly approved products. Market acceptance and 
sales of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and our product candidates, if approved, in domestic markets will depend significantly on the availability of 
coverage and adequacy of reimbursement from third-party payors, including government programs (such as Medicare and Medicaid) and private payor 
healthcare and insurance programs. In the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. 
Coverage and reimbursement for ZTlido can differ significantly from payor to payor, and we may not be able to maintain adequate coverage and 
reimbursement in the future. 
 
Further, obtaining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from a government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly 
process that could require us to provide supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products to each third-party payor 
separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained or applied consistently. We may not be able to provide data 
sufficient to gain acceptance with respect to coverage and reimbursement. Additionally, coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the 
product is approved by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the United States. Assuming that coverage is obtained for a given product, the 
resulting reimbursement rates might not be adequate or may require co-payments or co-insurance that patients find unacceptably high. Patients, 
physicians, and other healthcare providers may be less likely to prescribe, dispense or use, as applicable, any approved product unless coverage is 
provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost. 
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The market for our products will depend significantly on access to third-party payors’ drug formularies for which third-party payors provide coverage and 
reimbursement. The industry competition to be included in such formularies often leads to downward pricing pressures on pharmaceutical companies. 
Also, third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded product in their formularies or otherwise restrict patient access to a branded product 
when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is available. 
 
In addition, even if we obtain adequate levels of reimbursement, third-party payors carefully review and increasingly question the coverage of, and 
challenge the prices charged for, products. A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Increasingly, third-party 
payors are requiring that pharmaceutical companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices for 
products. We cannot be sure that coverage and reimbursement will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if reimbursement 
is available, what the level of reimbursement will be. If coverage and reimbursement of our product candidates are unavailable or limited in scope or 
amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, we may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability. Furthermore, the requirements governing medical 
product pricing vary widely from country to country. In some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a prescription device must be approved before it 
may be lawfully marketed. Historically, products launched in the European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally prices 
tend to be significantly lower. 
 
Our product candidate SEMDEXA is expected to be a physician-administered injectable viscous gel and as such, separate reimbursement for the product 
itself may not be available. Instead, if SEMDEXA receives regulatory approval, the administering physician may be reimbursed only for providing the 
treatment or procedure in which SEMDEXA is used. To the extent separate coverage and reimbursement should become available for SEMDEXA, we 
anticipate that it will be sold to physicians on a “buy and bill” basis. Buy and bill products must be purchased by healthcare providers before they can be 
administered to patients. Healthcare providers subsequently must seek reimbursement for the product from the applicable third-party payor, such as 
Medicare or a health insurance company. Healthcare providers may be reluctant to administer our product candidates, if approved, because they would 
have to fund the purchase of the product and then seek reimbursement, which may be lower than their purchase price, or because they do not want the 
additional administrative burden required to obtain reimbursement for the product. 
 
Further, the codes used by providers to bill for SEMDEXA, if approved, could also affect reimbursement. J-Codes are codes maintained by the Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), which are a component of the Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System and are typically used to 
report injectable drugs that ordinarily cannot be self-administered. We do not have a specific J-Code for any of our product candidates. If our product 
candidates are approved, we may apply for one but cannot guarantee that a J-Code will be granted. To the extent separate coverage or reimbursement 
is available for any product candidate, if approved, and a specific J-Code is not available, physicians would need to use a non-specific miscellaneous J-
Code to bill third-party payors for these physician-administered drugs. Because miscellaneous J-Codes may be used for a wide variety of products, 
health plans may have more difficulties determining the actual product used and billed for the patient. These claims must often be submitted with 
additional information and manually processed, which can create delays in claims processing times as well as increasing the likelihood for claim denials 
and claim errors.
 
Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be 
predictive of future trial results. 
 
Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, and can take many years to complete, in part because it is subject to rigorous regulatory 
requirements. The FDA or other regulatory authorities may not agree with the proposed analysis plans or trial design for the clinical trials of our product 
candidates. They may also not agree with the scope of our proposed investigational plan. In addition, the outcome of our clinical trials is risky and 
uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of 
the results of later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy traits despite 
having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. It is not uncommon for companies in the pharmaceutical industry to suffer 
significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier trials. Our 
future clinical trial results may not be successful. 
 
This product candidate development risk is heightened by any changes in the planned clinical trials compared to the completed clinical trials. As product 
candidates are developed through preclinical to early and late stage clinical trials 
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towards approval and commercialization, it is customary that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing and methods of 
administration, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize processes and results. While these types of changes are common and are intended to 
optimize the product candidates for late stage clinical trials, approval and commercialization, such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve their 
intended objectives. 
 
A Phase 3 trial was completed for SEMDEXA for the treatment of sciatica, a Phase 2 trial completed for SP-103, and multiple Phase 1 trials were 
completed in the first half of 2022 for SP-104. We may not have the necessary capabilities, including adequate staffing, to successfully manage the 
execution and completion of such clinical trials in a way that leads to our obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates in a timely manner, or 
at all. Our clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and, in the future, we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct 
additional clinical trials and preclinical studies in addition to those we have planned. 
 
In March 2022, we announced final results from our Phase 3 trial for SEMDEXA, which reflect positive results with respect to primary and secondary 
endpoints, and we intend to use the results to support an NDA submission seeking approval for the treatment of sciatica. However, the FDA may 
disagree with our assumptions or disagree that these results are sufficient for filing or approval of an NDA, and require us to conduct an additional Phase 
3 trial before submitting an NDA. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of our product candidates would prevent regulatory 
approval and, ultimately, the commercialization of that product for the proposed indication for use.
 
Risks Related to our Business and Operations
 
We may need to increase the size of our company and may not effectively manage our growth. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, we had approximately 106 full-time employees. We may need to continue to expand our managerial, operational, sales and 
marketing, finance and other resources in order to manage our operations, clinical trials, research and development activities, regulatory filings, 
manufacturing and supply activities, and any marketing and commercialization activities, including co-promotion activities. Future growth would impose 
significant added responsibilities on members of management, including: 
 

•identifying, recruiting, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees; 
•managing our internal development efforts effectively, including the clinical, FDA and internal regulatory review process for our product 
candidates, while complying with our contractual obligations to contractors and other third parties; and 
•improving our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. 

 
Our future financial performance and our ability to commercialize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any 
future growth, if any, which may cause a significant strain on our management, and our operational, financial and other resources. Our ability to manage 
our growth effectively will require us to implement and improve our operational, financial and management systems and to expand, train, manage and 
motivate our employees. These demands may require the hiring of additional management personnel and the development of additional expertise by 
management. Any increase in resources devoted to research and product development without a corresponding increase in our operational, financial and 
management systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of our 
product candidates. 
 
Manufacturing and marketing of ZTlido, GLOPERBA and ELYXYB and clinical testing of our product candidates may expose us to individual product 
liability claims, class action lawsuits or actions, and other individual or mass tort claims. For example, we may be sued if any product we develop 
allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. In addition, physicians may 
misuse our products with their patients if they are not adequately trained, potentially leading to injury and increased risk of product liability. Any such 
product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of risks inherent in the product, negligence, 
strict liability and a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves 
against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our product candidates, if 
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approved. Even successful defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability 
claims may result in: 
 

•loss of revenue from product sales; 
•decreased demand for our product candidates or products that we develop; 
•injury to our reputation; 
•withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 
•initiation of investigations by regulators; 
•restrictions on labeling, the marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market or voluntary or mandatory 
product recalls; 
•costs to defend the related litigation; 
•a diversion of management’s time and our resources; 
•substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; and 
•the inability to commercialize our product candidates. 

 
Our inability to obtain and maintain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost and scope of coverage to protect against potential product 
liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of any products we develop. We currently carry product liability insurance covering use in 
our clinical trials in the amount of $10.0 million in the aggregate. Although we maintain such insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could 
result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our 
insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions and deductibles, and we may be subject to a product liability claim for which we 
have no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not 
covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient capital to pay such amounts. Moreover, in the future, we may not be able 
to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses.
 
Our business and operations would suffer in the event of a system failure. 
 
While we have implemented and maintain security measures, our computer systems and those of our CROs and other contractors and consultants are 
vulnerable to computer viruses, unauthorized access, cybersecurity attacks, and other security incidents, including as perpetrated by hackers, or as the 
result of natural disasters, terrorism, war, or telecommunications or electrical failures. For example, following a recent cyberattack on Change Healthcare, 
we have been working with our co-pay savings card adjudicators to resolve the breakdown of processing of insurance claims by Change Healthcare. We 
are aware of the impact this disruption has had on our patients and customers and have been working diligently to resolve the issue. As of the date of this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, co-pay savings card processing for ZTlido and ELYXYB has been restored to normal operations. A material system 
failure or security breach, if such an event were to occur, could result in a material disruption of our product development programs or a loss of our trade 
secrets or other proprietary information. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing, or planned clinical trials could result in delays 
in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce such data. To the extent that any disruption or security 
breach were to result in the loss of or damage to our data or applications, or the unauthorized disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, 
including personal data, we could incur material legal liability or be the subject of legal claims, suffer damage to our reputation, lose or harm our 
intellectual property rights, and delay the continued research, development and commercial efforts of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB and our product 
candidates, if approved. If we are held liable for a claim against which we are not insured or for damages exceeding the limits of our insurance coverage, 
whether arising out of cybersecurity matters or some other matter, that claim could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. 
 
Further, a security incident or privacy violation that leads to the unauthorized acquisition, interruption, modification, loss, theft, corruption, interference, or 
other unauthorized disclosure of, or prevents access to, personal data, including patient data or other protected health information, could harm our 
reputation, compel us to comply with federal or state breach notification laws and foreign equivalents, subject us to mandatory corrective action, require 
us to verify the correctness of database contents, and otherwise subject us to liability under laws and regulations that protect personal data, resulting in 
increased costs or loss of revenue. Our ability to effectively manage and maintain our internal business information, and to ship products to customers 
and invoice them on a timely basis, depends significantly on our enterprise resource planning system and other information systems. Portions of our 
information 
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technology systems may experience interruptions, delays, or cessations of service or produce errors in connection with ongoing systems implementation 
work. Cybersecurity attacks in particular are continually evolving and include, but are not limited to, malicious software, ransomware, attempts to gain 
unauthorized access to data under our custody or control, and other electronic security breaches that could lead to disruptions in systems, 
misappropriation of confidential or otherwise protected information, and corruption of data. If we are unable to prevent such cybersecurity attacks or 
privacy violations or implement satisfactory remedial measures, our operations could be disrupted, we may suffer loss of reputation, we may be the 
subject of governmental investigations, legal claims, or litigation, or we may incur financial loss or other regulatory penalties, each of which may not be 
covered by our insurance. In addition, these breaches and other unauthorized access to our systems can be difficult to detect, and any delay in 
identifying any such event may lead to increased harm of the type described above.
 
Risks Related to our Intellectual Property 
 
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our drug discovery and development efforts. 
 
There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, 
including PTO administrative proceedings, such as inter partes reviews, post-grant reviews, and reexamination proceedings before the PTO or 
oppositions and revocations and other comparable proceedings in foreign jurisdictions. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent 
applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we are developing product candidates. As the biotechnology and 
pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that the development and/or commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, 
ELYXYB or our product candidates may give rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of others. 
 
Despite safe harbor provisions for products prior to commercial launch, third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology 
without authorization. There may be third-party patents, of which we are currently unaware, with claims to materials, formulations, methods of doing 
research, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the use or manufacture of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product 
candidates. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending unpublished patent applications which may later 
result in issued patents that ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product candidates may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the 
future and claim that the use of our technologies infringes these patents. If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover 
the manufacturing process of ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or any of our product candidates, any molecules formed during the manufacturing process or 
any final product itself, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such product candidate unless we obtain a 
license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire or they are finally determined to be held invalid or unenforceable. 
 
Similarly, if any third-party patent were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or 
methods of use, including combination therapy or patient selection methods, the holders of any such patent may be able to block our ability to develop 
and commercialize the applicable product candidate unless we obtain a license, limit our uses, or until such patent expires or is finally determined to be 
held invalid or unenforceable. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. 
 
Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our ability to further commercialize ZTlido, 
GLOPERBA and ELYXYB, or develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates. For example, Takeda Pharmaceuticals U.S.A., Inc. and 
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Ltd. (together, “Takeda”) filed a complaint (the “Action”) against us and Scilex Pharma on November 6, 2023 in the 
U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware, alleging that our filing with the FDA of an application for approval of a proposed revision to the product 
label for our GLOPERBA product infringed certain Orange Book listed patents covering Takeda’s colchicine product, Colcrys®. Takeda sought an order 
that the effective date of any FDA approval of our labeling revision be no earlier than the expiration date of the asserted patents listed in the Orange 
Book, and such further and other relief as the court may deem appropriate. On March 7, 2024, we entered into a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement 
Agreement”) with Takeda to resolve the Action and entered into a license agreement with Takeda pursuant to which Takeda granted a non-exclusive 
license to us and our affiliates of certain patents owned by Takeda. The Settlement Agreement was subject to review by the Federal Trade Commission 
and the U.S. Department of Justice, neither of which objected during the review period. After the expiration of the review period, the U.S. 
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District Court for the District of Delaware entered a final consent judgment on May 3, 2024. See the section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q titled 
“Legal Proceedings” for additional information regarding such proceedings. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial 
litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement 
against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses 
from third parties, cease marketing ZTlido, GLOPERBA or ELYXYB, or developing our product candidates, limit our uses, pay royalties or redesign our 
infringing product candidates, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. We cannot predict whether any such 
license would be available at all or whether it would be available on commercially reasonable terms. Furthermore, even in the absence of litigation, we 
may need to obtain licenses from third parties to advance our research or allow commercialization of ZTlido, GLOPERBA or ELYXYB or our product 
candidates, if approved. We may fail to obtain any of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all. In that event, we would be 
unable to further commercialize ZTlido, GLOPERBA or ELYXYB, or develop and commercialize one or more of our product candidates, which could harm 
our business, financial condition and results of operations significantly.
 
If we do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for any of our product candidates we are developing or may develop, our 
business may be materially harmed.
 
Depending upon the timing, duration and conditions of any FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one or more of our U.S. patents may be 
eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman 
Amendments, and similar legislation in the European Union. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent term extension of up to five years for a 
patent covering an approved product as compensation for effective patent term lost during product development and the FDA regulatory review process. 
However, we may not receive an extension if we fail to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, fail to apply within 
applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the length of the 
extension could be less than we request. Only one patent per approved product can be extended; the extension cannot extend the total patent term 
beyond 14 years from approval; and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be 
extended. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we can 
enforce our patent rights for the applicable product candidate will be shortened, and our competitors may obtain approval to market competing products 
sooner. As a result, our revenue from applicable products could be reduced. Further, if this occurs, our competitors may take advantage of our investment 
in development and trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case, and our 
competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be materially harmed.
 
Risks Related to our Relationship with Sorrento 
 
Certain of our directors and officers may have actual or potential conflicts of interest because of their positions with Sorrento. 
 
Mr. Jaisim Shah, Dr. Henry Ji, Mr. Dorman Followwill, Mr. David Lemus and Dr. Alexander Wu serve on our Board of Directors (the “Board”). Mr. Jaisim 
Shah and Dr. Henry Ji, who are our executive officers, are also members of the board of directors of Sorrento (and in the case of Dr. Henry Ji, the 
positions of President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the board of directors of Sorrento).
 
While our Board has determined that Mr. Dorman Followwill, Mr. David Lemus and Dr. Alexander Wu are “independent directors” within the meaning of 
applicable regulatory and stock exchange requirements in the United States, each of Mr. David Lemus, Mr. Dorman Followwill and Dr. Alexander Wu 
have served, and continue to serve, as directors of Sorrento (and in the case of Mr. Dorman Followwill, the Lead Independent Director of Sorrento). In 
May 2022, pursuant to a bill of sale and assignment and assumption agreement (the “Bill of Sale”), Sorrento sold, conveyed, assigned and transferred to 
us all of its rights, title and interest in and to the delayed burst release low dose naltrexone formulation asset and intellectual property rights that it had 
previously acquired from Aardvark. When Sorrento had previously purchased such assets from Aardvark, it also purchased shares of Aardvark’s Series B 
Preferred Stock, resulting in Sorrento holding approximately 8.4% of Aardvark’s ownership interest as of March 31, 2024. Also as part of such investment, 
Dr. Henry Ji joined the board of directors of Aardvark in May 2021 and served as a director until August 2023. On April 5, 2024, in connection with the 
Chapter 11 Cases and in a sale approved by 
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the Bankruptcy Court, Sorrento completed the sale of certain of its assets to Vivasor, Inc. (an affiliate of Dr. Henry Ji, Ph.D., our Executive Chairperson) 
(the “Sorrento Asset Sale”). In connection with the Sorrento Asset Sale, Sorrento transferred half of its equity interests (i.e., 4.2%) in Aardvark to Vivasor, 
Inc. and retained the remaining 4.2% of its equity interests in Aardvark. In addition, Sorrento issued to Vivasor, Inc. one-year secured notes of 8% 
interest rate per annum in an aggregate amount of $5 million, secured solely by Sorrento’s equity interests in Aardvark. We may enter into commercial 
arrangements with Aardvark in the future and Sorrento and Aardvark may also enter into more commercial arrangements in the future.
 
Due to the interrelated nature of Sorrento and Aardvark with us as a result of the foregoing overlapping relationships, conflicts of interest may arise with 
respect to transactions involving business dealings between us and Aardvark and between us and Sorrento. Service as an overlapping director or officer 
of Sorrento and/or Aardvark and us could create, or appear to create, conflicts of interest with respect to matters involving or affecting more than one of 
the companies to which such directors or officers owe fiduciary duties. For example, these matters could relate to potential acquisitions of businesses or 
products, the development and ownership of technologies and product candidates, the sale of products, markets and other matters in which our best 
interest and the best interests of our stockholders may conflict with the best interests of Sorrento or Aardvark and their respective stockholders. In 
particular, it is possible that we may be precluded from participating in certain business opportunities that we might otherwise have participated in as 
those opportunities may be presented to Aardvark or Sorrento because such directors may deem such opportunities to have a greater benefit to Aardvark 
or Sorrento than to us. In addition, we, Sorrento and Aardvark may disagree regarding the interpretation of certain terms in the Aardvark Asset Purchase 
Agreement or the Bill of Sale. Conflicts could also arise in any renegotiation or extension of these agreements. From time to time, Aardvark, Sorrento or 
their respective affiliates may enter into additional transactions with us or our subsidiaries or affiliates. In an effort to balance their conflicting interests, our 
directors or officers may approve terms equally favorable to Aardvark, Sorrento and us as opposed to negotiating terms more favorable to us but adverse 
to Sorrento or Aardvark.
 
In addition, such directors and officers may own shares of Sorrento or Aardvark common stock, options to purchase shares of Sorrento or Aardvark 
common stock or other Sorrento or Aardvark equity awards. These individuals’ holdings of such common stock, options or other equity awards of 
Sorrento or Aardvark may be significant for some of these persons compared to these persons’ total assets. Their ownership of any Sorrento or Aardvark 
equity or equity awards creates, or may create the appearance of, conflicts of interest when these directors and officers are faced with decisions that 
could have different implications for Sorrento or Aardvark than the decisions have for us.
 
Any potential conflict that qualifies as a “related party transaction” (as defined in Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act) is subject to review 
by our audit committee in accordance with our related person transaction policy. There can be no assurance that the terms of any such transactions will 
be as favorable to us or our stockholders as would be the case where there are no overlapping officers or directors.
 
Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
 
The market price of our Common Stock may fluctuate significantly, and investors in our Common Stock may
lose all or a part of their investment.
 
The market prices for securities of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies have historically been highly volatile, and the market has from time to 
time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. For example, from 
November 11, 2022 (the first trading day following the closing of the Business Combination) to May 9, 2024, our closing stock price ranged from $0.83 to 
$14.80. The market price of our Common Stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, some of which are beyond our control, such 
as:
 

•our ability to commercialize ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product candidates, if approved;

•legal disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent protection for 
ZTlido, GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product candidates, government investigations and the results of any proceedings or lawsuits, including, but 
not limited to, patent or stockholder litigation;

•Sorrento’s voluntary proceedings under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code;
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•extension of the lock-up restriction by court order in the Chapter 11 Cases on the 76,000,000 shares of our Common Stock that were previously 
distributed by Sorrento to Sorrento equityholders as a dividend;

•announcements of the introduction of new products by our company and our competitors;

•issuances of debt or equity securities;

•market conditions and trends in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;

•overall performance of the equity markets and other factors that may be unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of 
our competitors, including changes in market valuations of similar companies;

•trading volume of our Common Stock;

•ineffectiveness of our internal controls; and

•other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.
 
See the risk factor below titled “If our operations and performance do not meet the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the market price of our 
securities may decline” for more factors affecting the trading price of our securities. The realization of any of the above risks or any of a broad range of 
other risks, including those described in these “Risk Factors,” could have a dramatic and material adverse impact on the market price of our Common 
Stock. 
 
The equity markets in general have recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. Continued market fluctuations could result in extreme 
volatility in the price of our Common Stock. Further, price volatility of our Common Stock might worsen if the trading volume of our Common Stock is low. 
Although we have had periods of high-volume daily trading in our Common Stock, generally our stock is thinly traded. As a consequence of this lack of 
liquidity, the trading of relatively small quantities of shares by our stockholders may disproportionately influence the price of those shares in either 
direction. If an active trading market for our Common Stock does not continue, the price of our Common Stock may be more volatile and it may be more 
difficult and time consuming to complete a transaction in our Common Stock, which could have an adverse effect on the realized price of our Common 
Stock. In addition, an adverse development in the market price for our Common Stock could negatively affect our ability to issue new equity to fund our 
activities.
 
Future sales, or the perception of future sales, of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock may cause the price of our Common 
Stock to decline. 
 
If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our Common Stock, the trading price of our Common Stock could 
decline and it could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities.
 
On December 30, 2022, Sorrento announced that its board of directors authorized Sorrento to dividend to Sorrento equityholders of record as of January 
9, 2023 an aggregate of 76,000,000 shares of our Common Stock that were held by Sorrento (the “Dividend Shares”). Such shares were initially subject 
to a lock-up restriction prohibiting the sale, pledge or other transfer until May 11, 2023. Such lock-up restriction was extended to March 31, 2024 by court 
order in the Chapter 11 Cases, and on March 26, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court approved a motion to extend the lock-up period of the Dividend Shares to 
the earlier of (i) September 30, 2024 or (ii) the date on which Sorrento and its Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors agree in writing or on the record 
in the Chapter 11 Cases that certain claims that may be asserted in potential litigation to avoid Sorrento’s distribution of Dividend Shares and to recover 
such Dividend Shares should not be pursued, or on such date that the Bankruptcy Court deems just and proper.
 
As the restrictions on resale end, the market price of shares of our Common Stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares of Common 
Stock sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds 
through future offerings of our shares of Common Stock or other securities.
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Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to ZTlido 
or our product candidates. 
 
We may issue additional equity securities to fund future expansion and pursuant to equity incentive or employee benefit plans. We may also issue 
additional equity for other purposes. These securities may have the same rights as our Common Stock or, alternatively, may have dividend, liquidation or 
other preferences to our Common Stock. The issuance of additional equity securities, whether upon the ATM Sales Agreement, dated as of December 
22, 2023, between us and B. Riley Securities, Inc., Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. and H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (pursuant to which we may sell up to $170 
million of shares of our Common Stock, as more fully described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) or otherwise, will dilute the holdings of 
existing stockholders and may reduce the share price of our Common Stock.
 
Pursuant to the Scilex Holding Company 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”), which became effective on November 9, 2022, we are 
authorized to grant equity awards to our employees, directors and consultants. In addition, pursuant to the Scilex Holding Company 2022 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), which became effective on November 9, 2022, we are authorized to sell shares to our employees. Further, pursuant to the 
Scilex Holding Company 2023 Inducement Plan (the “Inducement Plan”), which was adopted on January 17, 2023, we are authorized to grant equity 
awards to individuals as a material inducement to join the Company. A total of 20,129,644 (which number of shares accounts for the automatic annual 
increase on January 1, 2024), 4,476,601 (which number of shares accounts for the annual increase on January 1, 2024) and 1,400,000 shares of our 
Common Stock have been reserved for future issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan, the ESPP and the Inducement Plan, respectively. In addition, 
the Equity Incentive Plan and ESPP provide for annual automatic increases in the number of shares reserved thereunder, in each case, beginning on 
January 1, 2023. As a result of such annual increases, our stockholders may experience additional dilution, which could cause the price of our Common 
Stock to fall. 
 
Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2022, by and among us, Vickers Venture Fund VI Pte 
Ltd, Vickers Venture Fund VI (Plan) Pte Ltd, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. and certain security holders set forth on the signature pages thereto (the 
“Registration Rights Agreement”), which was entered into in connection with the Business Combination, certain stockholders of Vickers and Legacy 
Scilex can each demand that we register their registrable securities under certain circumstances and will each also have piggyback registration rights for 
these securities. In addition, we are required to file and maintain an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering such securities and 
certain of our other securities. We have filed a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-268603) which was initially declared effective by the SEC 
on December 27, 2022, in order to satisfy these obligations. The registration of these securities will permit the public sale of such securities, subject to 
certain contractual restrictions imposed by the Registration Rights Agreement and the Merger Agreement. The presence of these additional shares of our 
Common Stock trading in the public market may have an adverse effect on the market price of our securities. 
 
If we raise additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar arrangements, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to ZTlido, 
GLOPERBA, ELYXYB or our product candidates, or grant licenses on terms unfavorable to us. If adequate funds are not available, our ability to achieve 
profitability or to respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited and we may be required to delay, significantly curtail or eliminate the 
development of our product candidates.
 
We are no longer a “controlled company” under the corporate governance rules of Nasdaq. However, during the applicable phase-in periods, 
we may rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements, which may limit the presence of independent directors on our 
Board or committees of our Board.
 
Previously, Sorrento beneficially owned, in the aggregate, more than 50% of the combined voting power for the election of our Board. However, on 
September 21, 2023, in connection with the Scilex-Oramed SPA, we and Sorrento entered into and consummated the transactions contemplated by that 
certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of such date, pursuant to which, among other things, we purchased from Sorrento (i) 60,068,585 shares of 
Common Stock, (ii) 29,057,097 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and (iii) warrants exercisable for 4,490,617 shares of Common Stock, each with an 
exercise price of $11.50 (which constitutes the entirety of the holdings of our capital stock that was held by Sorrento, other than the 1,917,210 additional 
shares of Common Stock held by Sorrento in abeyance for the benefit of certain holders of warrants to purchase shares of common stock of Sorrento) ((i) 
through 
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(iii) collectively, the “Purchased Securities”, and such transactions, the “Equity Repurchase Transaction”). As a result of the consummation of the Equity 
Repurchase Transaction, Sorrento no longer controls a majority of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock and at such time we ceased to be a 
“controlled company” within the meaning of Nasdaq’s corporate governance standards. As a result, we are subject to additional corporate governance 
requirements, including the requirements that (i) a majority of our Board consists of independent directors, (ii) our Board has a compensation committee 
that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities and (iii) director 
nominees must be selected or recommended for the board’s selection, either by independent directors constituting a majority of the board’s independent 
directors in a vote in which only independent directors participate, or a nominating and corporate governance committee comprised solely of independent 
directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities.
 
Nasdaq Listing Rules provide for phase-in periods for these requirements (including that each such committee consist of a majority of independent 
directors within 90 days of no longer being a “controlled company”), but we must be fully compliant with the requirements within one year of the date on 
which we cease to be a “controlled company.”
 
As of March 31, 2024, a majority of the directors on our Board are independent, and each of the directors serving on our audit, nominating and corporate 
governance and compensation committees are independent. We also adopted formal written charters for each of our audit, nominating and corporate 
governance, and our compensation committees at the closing of the Business Combination. While as of March 31, 2024, we are in compliance with the 
additional Nasdaq corporate governance requirements listed above, we may be unable to retain the number of independent directors needed to comply 
with such rules during the transition period. Moreover, until we are fully subject to these requirements, our stockholders will not have the same 
protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq.
 
Our Warrants are exercisable for our Common Stock, which would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market 
and result in dilution to our stockholders. 
 
As of March 31, 2024, outstanding SPAC Warrants (as defined below) to purchase an aggregate of 10,958,309 shares of our Common Stock are 
exercisable in accordance with the terms of the Warrant Agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”), dated as of January 6, 2021, between Continental Stock 
Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and Vickers, governing those securities. The exercise price of these SPAC Warrants is $11.50 per share. 
“SPAC Warrants” means (i) the redeemable warrants that were included in the Units (each of which consisted of one Vickers ordinary share and one-half 
of one redeemable warrant) that entitle the holder of each whole warrant to purchase one Vickers ordinary share at a price of $11.50 per share (the 
“Public Warrants”), and (ii) the 6,840,000 warrants sold in a private placement to Vickers Venture Fund VI Pte Ltd and Vickers Venture Fund VI (Plan) Pte 
Ltd consummated on January 11, 2021 (of which 2,736,000 were subsequently forfeited and 3,104,000 were transferred to Sorrento, in each case in 
connection with the Business Combination) (the “Private Warrants”).
 
As of March 31, 2024, (i) none of the outstanding Penny Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 13,000,000 shares of our Common Stock are exercisable 
under the terms thereof, the exercise price of which is $0.01 per share; (ii) outstanding Firm Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,882,352 shares of 
our Common Stock are exercisable under the terms thereof, the exercise price of which is $1.70 per share; and (iii) outstanding Representative Warrants 
to purchase an aggregate of 470,588 shares of our Common Stock are exercisable under the terms thereof, the exercise price of which is $2.125 per 
share.
 
As described above, on April 23, 2024, the Company issued RDO Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 15,000,000 shares of Common Stock, the 
exercise price of which is $1.10 per share, and Placement Agent Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,200,000 shares of Common Stock, the exercise 
price of which is $1.25 per shares. The RDO Warrants and the Placement Agent Warrants become exercisable on the six-month anniversary of the date 
of issuance.
 
To the extent the SPAC Warrants, the Penny Warrants, the Firm Warrants, the Representative Warrants, the RDO Warrants and/or the Placement Agent 
Warrants (collectively, the “Warrants”) are exercised, additional shares of our Common Stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of 
our Common Stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public 
market, or the fact that such Warrants may be exercised, could adversely affect the prevailing market prices of our Common Stock. With respect to the 
SPAC Warrants, there is no guarantee that the SPAC Warrants will ever be in the money prior to their expiration, and as such, the SPAC Warrants may 
expire worthless. See below risk factor, “The 
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SPAC Warrants may never be in the money, they may expire worthless and the terms of the SPAC Warrants may be amended in a manner adverse to a 
holder if holders of a majority of the then-outstanding SPAC Warrants approve of such amendment.”
 
The SPAC Warrants may never be in the money, they may expire worthless and the terms of the SPAC Warrants may be amended in a manner 
adverse to a holder if holders of a majority of the then-outstanding SPAC Warrants approve of such amendment.
 
As of March 31, 2024, the exercise price for our SPAC Warrants is $11.50 per share of Common Stock. On May 9, 2024, the closing price of our 
Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market was $0.83. If the price of our shares of Common Stock remains below $11.50 per share, which is the 
exercise price of our SPAC Warrants, we believe our warrant holders will be unlikely to cash exercise their SPAC Warrants, resulting in little or no cash 
proceeds to us. There is no guarantee that our SPAC Warrants will be in the money prior to their expiration and, as such, our SPAC Warrants may expire 
worthless.
 
In addition, the SPAC Warrants were issued in registered form under the Warrant Agreement. The Warrant Agreement provides that the terms of the 
SPAC Warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision or correct any mistake, but 
requires the approval by the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding SPAC Warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the 
registered holders of SPAC Warrants. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the SPAC Warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of a 
majority of the then-outstanding SPAC Warrants approve of such amendment. Although our ability to amend the terms of the SPAC Warrants with the 
consent of majority of the then-outstanding SPAC Warrants is unlimited, examples of such amendments could be amendments to, among other things, 
increase the exercise price of the SPAC Warrants, convert the SPAC Warrants into cash, shorten the exercise period, or decrease the number of shares 
of our Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of a SPAC Warrant.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In February 2024, we issued an aggregate of 96,982 shares of Common Stock (the “Yorkville Shares”) pursuant to advances under the amended 
and restated standby equity purchase agreement, dated as of February 8, 2023, between us and YA II PN, Ltd., for aggregate net proceeds of 
approximately $156,005. For more information, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — 
Liquidity and Capital Resources — Standby Equity Purchase Agreements”.

The issuance of the Yorkville Shares was not registered under the Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption from registration provided by 
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated by the SEC, and in reliance on similar exemptions under 
applicable state laws.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

During the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended) adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy 
the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

 Exhibit
 Number

  
 Description

  

    2.1# Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March  18, 2019, by and among Scilex Holding Company, Sigma Merger Sub, Inc., 
Semnur Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Fortis Advisors LLC, solely as the representative of the Equityholders and, solely with respect to 
Section 1.8(a), Section  3.11 and Article X, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Amendment No. 
1 of Vickers’s Form S-4 (File No.  333-264941), filed with the SEC on June 27, 2022). 

    2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August  7, 2019, by and among Semnur Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 
Scilex Holding Company, Sigma Merger Sub, Inc., Fortis Advisors, LLC, solely as the representative of the Equityholders and, 
solely with respect to Section  1.8(a), 3.11 and Article X of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of Amendment No. 1 of Vickers’s Form S-4 (File No. 333-264941), filed with the SEC on 
October June 27, 2022). 

    2.3# Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated May  12, 2022, by and between Scilex Holding Company and 
Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 of Amendment No. 1 of Vickers’s Form S-4 (File No. 333-
264941), filed with the SEC on June 27, 2022). 

    2.4^# Asset Purchase Agreement, dated April  23, 2021, between Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. and Aardvark Therapeutics, Inc., as 
assumed by Scilex Holding Company on May  12, 2022, pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, 
dated as of such date, by and between Scilex Holding Company and Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 2.4 of Amendment No.  1 of Vickers’s Form S-4 (File No. 333-264941), filed with the SEC on June 27, 2022). 

    2.5# Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 17, 2022, by and among Vickers Vantage Corp. I, Vickers Merger Sub, Inc. and 
Scilex Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Vickers’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), 
filed with the SEC on March 21, 2022). 

    2.6# Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September  12, 2022, by and among Vickers Vantage Corp. I, 
Vickers Merger Sub, Inc. and Scilex Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Vickers’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed with the SEC on September 14, 2022).

    3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Scilex Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our Current Report on 
Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed with the SEC on November 17, 2022). 

    3.2 Certificate of Designations of Scilex Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K 
(File No. 001-39852), filed with the SEC on November 17, 2022). 

    3.3 Bylaws of Scilex Holding Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-
39852), filed with the SEC on November 17, 2022). 

    4.1 Warrant Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2021, by and between Vickers Vantage Corp. I and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Vickers’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed with the 
SEC on January 11, 2021).

 

    4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate of Scilex Holding Company (f/k/a Vickers Vantage Corp. I) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of 
Vickers’s Form S-1 (File No. 333-251352), filed with the SEC on December 15, 2020).

  

    4.3 Senior Secured Promissory Note issued to Oramed Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on September 21, 2023 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed with the SEC on September 26, 2023).

  

    4.4 Form of Scilex Holding Company Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of our Current 
Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed with the SEC on September 26, 2023).

  

    4.5 Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), filed 
with the SEC on March 5, 2024).

  

    4.6 Form of Representative Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), 
filed with the SEC on March 5, 2024).
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000110465922074469/vcka-20220331xex2d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000110465922074469/vcka-20220331xex2d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000110465922074469/vcka-20220331xex2d3.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000119312523242508/d537034dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000119312523242508/d537034dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000119312524059255/d772929dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1820190/000119312524059255/d772929dex42.htm


 
 Exhibit
 Number

  
 Description

  
  10.1 Settlement Term Sheet, dated February 26, 2024, by and between Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc., Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. and 

Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39852), 
filed with the SEC on February 27, 2024).

  10.2+ Settlement Agreement, dated February 29, 2024, by and between Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc., Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. and 
Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

  

  10.3+ Letter Agreement, dated March 14, 2024, by and between Scilex Holding Company and Oramed Pharmaceuticals Inc.
  

  31.1+ Certification of Jaisim Shah, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  

  31.2+ Certification of Stephen Ma, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  

  32.1+ Certification of Jaisim Shah, Principal Executive Officer, and Stephen Ma, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS+ Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.

101.PRE+ Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104+ Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
 
+ Filed herewith.
^ Certain identified information has been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K because such information is both (i) not material and (ii) 

information that the Registrant treats as private or confidential. The Registrant hereby undertakes to furnish supplemental copies of the unredacted 
exhibit upon request by the SEC. 

# Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601. The Registrant agrees to furnish a 
copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
May 13, 2024 Scilex Holding Company
   
 By: /s/ Jaisim Shah

  

Jaisim Shah
Chief Executive Officer and President 

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
May 13, 2024  
   
 By: /s/ Stephen Ma

  

Stephen Ma
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer) 
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Exhibit 10.2

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND MUTUAL RELEASES

This Settlement Agreement and Mutual Releases (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of February 29, 2024 by and among Sorrento 
Therapeutics, Inc. and Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc., on the one hand, and Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on the other hand.  They are collectively referred 
to herein as “the Parties” and each individually as a “Party.”

WHEREAS, Sorrento and Scilex filed the lawsuit captioned Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. and Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. v. Anthony Mack and 
Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Case No. 2021-0210-PAF (the “Action”), in which Sorrento and Scilex asserted claims for breach of contract against Mack 
and tortious interference against Virpax, breach of fiduciary duty against Mack and aiding and abetting against Virpax, and trade secret misappropriation 
against Mack and Virpax (the “Asserted Claims”). 

WHEREAS, on February 13, 2023, Sorrento filed for chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”).

WHEREAS, on September 1, 2023, the Delaware Court of Chancery issued a memorandum opinion (the “Opinion”) finding: (1) Mack breached 
the RCA with Sorrento; (2) Virpax is liable for tortious interference with that contract; (3) Plaintiffs waived their claims for breach of Mack’s employment 
contract and for tortious interference with prospective economic advantage; (4) Mack breached his fiduciary duty of loyalty to Scilex; (5) Virpax aided and 
abetted Mack’s breach of fiduciary duty; and (6) Mack misappropriated certain Scilex trade secrets.

WHEREAS, in the Opinion, the Court instructed the parties to submit supplemental briefing on the appropriate remedy to implement its rulings.  
On October 18, 2023, Plaintiffs submitted a supplemental brief on remedies.  On November 29, 2023, Defendants submitted a supplemental brief on 
remedies.  On December 21, 2023, Plaintiffs submitted a supplemental reply brief on remedies.   

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to settle, discharge and terminate all claims, controversies and potential claims and controversies which may 
exist whether known or unknown, against each other as of the Effective Date (as defined below) without resort to further claim or dispute of any nature 
whatsoever in any way arising out of, or in any way related to, the Action, the Asserted Claims, and any other claims, including any counterclaims, that 
could have been asserted in the Action, upon the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and representations contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound thereby, the Parties agree as follows:

TERMS OF AGREEMENT

1.Bankruptcy Court Approval.  Notwithstanding any other terms of this Agreement to the contrary, the obligations and representations of the 
Parties under this Agreement are expressly conditioned on and subject to the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of an order approving this Agreement (the 
“Settlement Order”).  If the Settlement Order is not entered by April 1, 2024 (or such other date as agreed to in writing by the Parties), this Agreement 
shall terminate automatically.

Sorrento covenants that it will seek expedited/emergency approval from the Bankruptcy Court in getting this Agreement approved by the 
Bankruptcy Court, and it further covenants that it will request that any such settlement order be immediately effective and will oppose any attempt to stay 
the Settlement Order.  If there are no objections to Sorrento’s motion for approval of the Agreement, the date the Settlement Order is entered shall be 
and is referred to herein as the “Effective Date.”  If there are objections, the date the Settlement Order becomes non-appealable shall be the “Effective 
Date.”  

 
 
 



 

2.Settlement Consideration.  Virpax will pay Sorrento and Scilex a total of $6 million.  Virpax will pay that amount as follows: No later than two 
business days after the Effective Date, Virpax will wire $3.5 million to Scilex (the “Initial Payment”).  By or on July 1, 2024, Virpax will wire the remaining 
$2.5 million to Scilex.  

3.Royalty Payments. Virpax shall pay a 6% royalty to Sorrento and Scilex on worldwide Net Sales of all Products sold during the Royalty Term 
by Virpax or any Selling Party.

a.“Products” shall mean the drug candidates referred to in the Action as Epoladerm, Probudur, and Envelta (and individually, a 
“Product”), and shall incorporate by reference the definition of “Product” from the June 6, 2017 License Agreement between 
MedPharm Limited and Virpax Pharmaceuticals, LLC, “Licensed Product” from the March 19, 2018 License and Sublicense 
Agreement between LipoCureRx, Ltd. and Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and “Licensed Product” from the April 11, 2019 
Collaboration and License Agreement between Nanomerics Ltd. and Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

b.“Royalty Term” shall mean the period of time commencing on the date of the first commercial sale of a Product and ending on 
a country-by-country basis with respect to each Product upon the later of:

i.expiration of the last-to-expire valid patent claim of Virpax or its licensor covering the manufacture, use or sale of 
such Product in such country; and

ii.expiration of any period of regulatory exclusivity for such Product in such country.

c.“Selling Party” shall mean any affiliate sub-licensee, co-marketer, collaborator, joint venturer or other partner of Virpax.

d.“Net Sales” shall mean with respect to any Product, the gross amount invoiced with respect thereto by Virpax or a Selling 
Party in an arm’s length transaction exclusively for money or, where the sale is not at arm’s length or not exclusively for money, 
the price that would have been so invoiced if it had been at arm’s length exclusively for money, less the following to the extent 
allowed, paid or accrued with respect to such sales consistent with relevant accounting standards:

i.normal and customary trade, cash and/or quantity discounts allowed and taken, and wholesaler and inventory 
management fees paid, with respect to sales of such product or products;

ii.amounts paid, repaid or credited by reason of defects, rejection, recalls, returns and allowances with respect to 
such product or products;

iii.any applicable sales, use or value-added taxes;

iv.charges, chargebacks, rebates, discounts and amounts under rebate programs paid or accrued on sale or 
dispensing of the such product;

v.all transportation charges, including freight, postage and insurance related directly to such product, in each case 
to the extent included in the invoice price to a buyer; and
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vi.all other deductions allowed by relevant accounting standards, as consistently applied by Virpax and its affiliates 
(or their licensees or sub-licensees, as applicable) in determining net product sales.

For clarification, sale of a Product by a selling party to another selling party for resale by such entity to a third party shall not 
be deemed a sale for purposes of this definition of “Net Sales,” provided that the subsequent resale is included in the 
computation of Net Sales. Further, transfers or dispositions of Product, without consideration: (A) in connection with patient 
assistance programs; (B) for charitable or promotional purposes; (C) for preclinical, clinical, regulatory or governmental 
purposes or under so-called “named patient” or other limited access programs; or (D) for use in any tests or studies 
reasonably necessary to comply with applicable law, regulation or request by a regulatory authority, shall not, in each case 
of (A) through (D), be deemed sales of such product for purposes of this definition of “Net Sales.”

4.Destruction of Scilex Information.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Virpax shall perform a search of its systems for Scilex’s nonpublic 
information, including all documents identified in the pleadings and alleged to be Scilex’s confidential information.  Virpax shall destroy all hard copies of 
such information and shall remove any such information from its computing systems but shall create a preservation copy of such information on a hard 
drive that shall be maintained by Virpax’s counsel Ballard Spahr during the pendency of this Action until there is a binding settlement or final, non-
appealable decision as to all parties to the Action. 

5.Affidavit regarding Scilex’s Confidential Information.  Within 30 days of the Effective Date, Virpax will provide Scilex with an affidavit from its 
CEO confirming that that Virpax has complied with its obligation to destroy Scilex confidential information and confirming that no Scilex confidential 
information remains in Virpax’s possession. 

6.Release by Sorrento and Scilex.  Upon payment of the Initial Payment, and in exchange for the consideration set forth in this Agreement, 
Sorrento and Scilex, on behalf of themselves, their parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, managers, officers, shareholders, members, employees, 
attorneys, agents, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, knowingly and voluntarily releases and forever discharges Virpax and its 
respective parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, managers, officers, shareholders, members, employees, attorneys, agents, representatives, 
predecessors, successors and assigns (as applicable), of any and all causes of action, claims, demands, damages, debts, liabilities, attorneys’ fees and 
all other manner of actions (“Claims”) that were asserted in the Action, that could have been asserted in the Action, and/or that arise from or are related to 
the facts and circumstances alleged in the Action, and existed as of the Effective Date and could have been asserted against such released persons. For 
the avoidance of doubt, Defendant Anthony Mack, Virpax’s former CEO and Chairman, is not included in this release and Sorrento and Scilex reserve 
the ability to pursue all Claims against Mr. Mack. 

7.Release by Virpax.  Upon the Effective Date, and in exchange for the consideration set forth in this Agreement, Virpax, on behalf of itself and 
its attorneys, agents, representatives, predecessors, successors, and assigns, knowingly and voluntarily releases and forever discharges Sorrento and 
Scilex, and their respective parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, directors, managers, officers, shareholders, members, employees, attorneys, agents, 
representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, of any and all Claims, that could have been asserted in the Action and/or that arise from or are 
related to the facts and circumstances alleged in the Action, and existed as of the Effective Date and could have been asserted against such released 
persons.  

8.Releases Include Unknown Claims.  The Parties acknowledge that the releases in this Agreement may include a release of Claims, whether 
fixed or contingent, at law or in equity that are unknown or unsuspected up to the Effective Date.  The releases in this Agreement are to be interpreted as 
broadly as the law allows.  The Parties hereby waive any common law or statutory doctrine or provision that limits the effect of a release of unknown or 
unsuspected claims, counterclaims, demands, damages, debts, liabilities, attorneys’ fees, actions, causes of action, obligations, 
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covenants, contracts, agreements, promises, disputes, demands, and all other manner of actions whatsoever, whether fixed or contingent, at law or in 
equity, including any law or principle of common law which is similar, comparable or equivalent to Cal. Civ. Code  § 1542, which provides:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW 
OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY 
HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR OR RELEASED 
PARTY.

9.Enforcement of Releases.  All of the persons and entities receiving releases in this Agreement have the right to enforce those releases.

10.Representations and Warranties of All Parties.  The Parties represent and warrant: 

(a)  each Party has the legal right, capacity and authority to enter into this Agreement; 

(b)  each Party has taken all necessary corporate and legal actions, as applicable, to duly approve the making and 
performance of this Agreement; 

(c)  this Agreement has been validly executed and delivered by the Party and constitutes a valid and binding obligation, 
enforceable against the Party in accordance with the terms hereof; 

(d)  neither the execution nor performance of this Agreement by such Party constitutes or will constitute a violation or 
breach of such Party’s charter or bylaws (or comparable documents, as applicable); 

(e)  neither the execution nor the performance of this Agreement will constitute a violation or breach of any law, order, 
injunction, judgment, statute or regulation applicable to such Party or constitutes or will constitute a material 
default (or would, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, constitute such a default) under any 
material contract, agreement or other instrument to which such Party is a party or by which it is bound; 

(f)  each Party has not relied upon any document, statement, representation, promise, inducement, understanding or 
information made or provided by any other Party or its representatives except as expressly set forth in this 
Agreement, and such Party has relied solely upon its own due diligence and independent judgment concerning 
this Agreement and the Party’s decision to enter into this Agreement; 

(g)  each Party has read this Agreement and fully understands all of its terms, covenants, conditions, provisions and 
obligations; 

(h)  the language, terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement are the result of negotiations between the parties; 

(i)  each Party specifically acknowledges that this Agreement shall not be subject to any claim of mistake of fact, that it 
expresses a full and complete settlement between the Parties, and that regardless of the adequacy or 
inadequacy of the 
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consideration described herein, this Agreement is intended to avoid litigation and to be a final and complete 
settlement of claims and obligations between the Parties described herein as covered by this Agreement; 

(j)  each Party has not assigned or transferred any Claim or interest in any Claim that is the subject of the releases in this 
Agreement; and 

(k)  each Party is not presently aware of any other Claim it has against any other party arising from or relating to the facts 
alleged in the Action other than those asserted in the Action or referenced herein.

11.Enforcement Actions.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as preventing any Party from filing suit 
to enforce any portion of this Agreement.

12.Dismissal.  No later than two business days after Scilex receives the Initial Payment, Sorrento and Scilex will stipulate to the dismissal of the 
Action with prejudice by filing the Stipulation of Dismissal substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Parties will cooperate on any 
requested changes to the form and manner of such Stipulation of Dismissal.

13.Choice of Law.  The parties agree that the terms of the Settlement Agreement will be interpreted and construed under Delaware law, 
without regard to otherwise applicable conflict of law rules.  

14.Jurisdiction.  The Delaware Court of Chancery will retain jurisdiction over enforcement of the Settlement Agreement and the promises made 
therein.  Jurisdiction is retained solely for that purpose.  

15.Notice/Cure/Settlement Conference.  Before raising any potential breaches of this Agreement with the Court, the Parties will meet and 
confer within five (5) business days of notice of the breach to negotiate a resolution.  Notice pursuant to this requirement shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed duly given: (i) upon actual receipt; (ii) five (5) business days after mailing by first class, certified, or registered U.S. mail, postage prepared and 
addressed as indicated in Paragraph 26, return receipt requested; (iii) if given by email, once such notice or other communication is transmitted to the 
email address(es) specified in this Agreement, or (iv) if sent through a nationally-recognized overnight delivery service that guarantees next day delivery 
and addressed as indicated in this Agreement, the business day following its delivery to such service in time for next day delivery.  The Party alleged to 
be in breach shall have seven (7) business days in which to cure the breach.  If no resolution can be negotiated or if the breach is not cured within seven 
(7) business days, or cannot be cured, the non-breaching Party may file an action seeking to enforce this Agreement.

16.No Admission and No Precedential Value.  This settlement and the terms of this Agreement constitute a compromise of the Asserted 
Claims and any Claims (as defined above)  and is made solely to avoid the uncertainties associated with litigation and further expenditures of time, fees, 
and costs by the Parties.  Neither the offer nor acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be used as evidence of, or be deemed or 
asserted to be, an admission of liability or fault on the part of any Party.

17.Costs and Attorney’s Fees.  The Parties shall each individually bear all attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements of its own counsel and 
consultants in connection with this Agreement and the matters and documents referred to herein, and all related matters.  

18.Modification.  No modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in a writing signed by all Parties hereto, wherein specific 
reference is made to this Agreement.  

19.Integration.  The terms of this Agreement constitute the full and complete understanding, agreement, and arrangement of the Parties with 
respect to the matters set forth herein and the integrated memorial of their agreement 
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with regard to settlement, and supersede all prior agreement, except as set forth herein and as with respect to any protective/confidentiality order entered 
into by the Parties in the Action. 

20.Construction.  The headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience only and do not constitute part of and shall not be used to 
interpret this Agreement.  The language in all parts of this Agreement shall be construed according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against any 
Party because that Party or that Party’s legal representative drafted it.

21.Severability.  If any terms or provision of this Agreement or any portion thereof is declared illegal or unenforceable by any court of 
competent jurisdiction, such provision or portion thereof shall be deemed modified so as to render it enforceable, and to the extent such provision or 
portion thereof cannot be rendered enforceable, this Agreement shall be considered divisible as to such provision which shall become null and void, 
leaving the remainder of this Agreement in full force and effect.

22.Jointly Drafted.  The Agreement has been reviewed by counsel for all Parties.  The Parties, through their respective legal counsel, have 
participated in the drafting and negotiation of this Agreement.  The Agreement shall be deemed to have been jointly drafted by each of them for the 
purposes of applying any rule of contract construction.

23.Cooperation with Respect to this Agreement.  The Parties agree to cooperate fully and execute all supplementary documents and to take all 
action that may be necessary or appropriate to give full force and effect to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and which are not inconsistent with 
the terms set forth herein.  

24.Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is binding upon and inures to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective parents, 
subsidiaries, directors, officers, agents, employees, stockholders, heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, predecessors, successors and 
assigns.

25.Counterparts and Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, and each counterpart, when executed, shall have the 
efficacy of a signed original and may be delivered via mail, email (.pdf) or facsimile, any of which shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts will 
together constitute but one Agreement.  The Parties agree that this Agreement may be accepted, executed or agreed to through the use of an electronic 
signature in accordance with the Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (“E-Sign Act”), Title 15, United States Code, Sections 7001 
et seq., the Uniform Electronic Transaction Act (“UETA”) and any applicable state law. Any document accepted, executed or agreed to in conformity with 
such laws will be binding on the Parties the same as if it were physically executed and the Parties hereby consents to the use of any third party electronic 
signature capture service providers as may be chosen by any other Party.

26.Notice. Any notice required or permitted to be given to the Parties will be deemed to have been properly given if delivered in person or by 
certifiable mail, return receipt requested, or if delivered by one of the means set forth in this Agreement, if addressed to:

For Sorrento:
 
Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc. 
4955 Directors Place
San Diego, California 92121 
HJi@sorrentotherapeutics.com

With a copy to:

Steve Feldman
Latham & Watkins LLP
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1271 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10020
steve.feldman@lw.com
 

For Scilex:

Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc. 
960 San Antonio Road, Suite 11
Palo Alto, CA 94303
jshah@scilexholding.com 

With a copy to:

Steve Feldman
Latham & Watkins LLP
1271 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10020
steve.feldman@lw.com
 

For Virpax:

Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
1055 Westlakes Drive, Suite 300
Berwyn, PA 19312
gbruce@virpaxpharma.com

With a copy to:

Elizabeth A. Sloan
Ballard Spahr LLP
919 N. Market Street, Suite 11
Wilmington DE 19801
sloane@ballardspahr.com
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have signed this Agreement on the date set forth below.

Date: February 29, 2024

Sorrento Therapeutics, Inc.

By:      /s/ Mohsin Meghji                                
Name: Moshin Meghji
Its:      Chief Restructuring Officer
 

  

Date: February 29, 2024

Scilex Pharmaceuticals Inc.

By:      /s/ Jaisim Shah                                      
Name: Jaisim Shah
Its:      Chief Executive Officer

 

Date: February 29, 2024 Virpax Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By:      /s/ Gerald W. Bruce                              
Name: Gerald W. Bruce
Its:       Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 10.3
 

March 14, 2024
 
Scilex Holding Company
960 San Antonio Rd.
Palo Alto, CA 94303
Attn: Stephen Ma
 
 
VIA EMAIL
 
RE:  Consent under Senior Secured Promissory Note (this “Consent Letter”)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Reference is made to (i) that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2023 (the “SPA”), between Scilex Holding 
Company, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Oramed Pharmaceuticals Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Oramed”) as the initial purchaser, and 
Acquiom Agency Services LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, as agent, (ii) that certain Senior Secured Promissory Note, dated as of September 
21, 2023 (the “Note”), issued by the Company to Oramed, as Holder (“Holder”), and (iii) all related Transaction Documents, as defined in the SPA.  

Section 1Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein are used with the respective meanings assigned to them in the SPA or 
the Note, as applicable.   

Section 2Limited Consent.  

(a)Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the SPA, the Note or any other Transaction Document, the Company and the 
Holder constituting all Holders under the Note hereby agree as follows: 

(i)In lieu of making that certain principal payment in the amount of $15,000,000 on March 21, 2024 as required pursuant 
to Section 2(e) of the Note (the “Designated Principal Payment Installment”), the Company may (but shall not be required to) pay 
such Designated Principal Payment Installment as follows: (A) $11,500,000 of such Designated Principal Payment Installment on or 
before March 15, 2024 (such amount, the “Initial Portion”), and (B) $3,500,000 upon receipt by the Company of certain designated 
cash proceeds to be received by the Company, the details of which have been disclosed to the Holders on or prior to the date hereof, 
and in any event on or before March 21, 2024, and, in each case, the Holders hereby consent thereto; provided, for the avoidance of 
doubt, that making payment of any portion of such Designated Principal Payment Installment on or before March 21, 2024 shall not 
constitute the making of a voluntary prepayment under Section 2(f) of the Note and notice of such Designated Principal Payment 
Installment, any requirement that the Equity Conditions be satisfied, and any requirement to make or pay any Make-Whole Amount, 
prepayment premium or any penalty, in each case, as described in Section 2(f) of the Note shall not be applicable with respect to the 
Designated Principal Payment Installment, and the Holder hereby waives any such requirements with respect to the Designated 
Principal Payment Installment. 

(ii)Upon receipt of the Initial Portion of the Designated Principal Payment Installment in accordance with the terms of 
Section 2(a)(i) above, the Holder hereby consents and agrees that, notwithstanding the minimum Liquidity requirements set forth in 
Section 7(b)(x) of the Note, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be required to maintain the following minimum Liquidity during 
the specified time periods, rather than and in lieu of the current requirements set forth in Section 7(b)(x) of the Note: (i) from and 
after March 1, 2024 until May 1, 2024, $0, (ii) from and after May 1, 2024 until June 1, 2024, $1,000,000 of Liquidity, (iii) from and 
after June 1, 2024 until June 21, 2024, $2,500,000 of Liquidity, and (iv) on June 21, 2024 and at all times 

 



 

thereafter, $5,000,000 of Liquidity; provided, that the foregoing consent shall be rescinded and of no further force and effect and the 
requirements set forth in Section 7(b)(x) of the Note shall be reinstated to the extent the full amount of the Designated Principal 
Payment Installment is not paid on or before March 21, 2024. 

(b)The foregoing limited consent (i) is a one-time consent, (ii) is expressly limited to the transactions described above in Section 
2(a), (iii) shall not be deemed or otherwise construed to constitute a consent to any other transaction, whether or not similar to the transactions 
described above in Section 2(a) and (iv) shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Agent or any Holder under the Note, 
any other Transaction Document or any other document, instrument or agreement executed in connection therewith, nor constitute a waiver, 
release or modification of the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s obligations to comply with all terms and conditions of the Note and other 
Transaction Documents, except as expressly set forth herein. The Agent and the Holders have granted the limited consent set forth in Section 
2(a) in this particular instance and in light of the facts and circumstances that presently exist, and the grant of such consent shall not constitute 
a course of dealing or impair the Agent’s or any Holder’s right to withhold any similar consent in the future.  

Section 3Affirmation.  

(a)Except as specifically consented to pursuant to Section 2 hereof, the Company hereby expressly reaffirms, as of the date hereof, 
all its covenants and agreements contained in the Note and each Transaction Document and agrees that none of its covenants and 
agreements set forth in the Note or any other Transaction Document shall be reduced or limited by the execution and delivery of this Consent 
Letter.

(b)The Company (on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries) hereby (i) affirms that each of the Liens granted in or pursuant to the 
Security Documents are valid and subsisting, and (ii) agrees that this Consent Letter and all documents executed in connection herewith shall 
in no manner impair or otherwise adversely affect any of the Liens granted in or pursuant to the Security Documents and such Liens continue 
unimpaired with the same priority to secure repayment of all Obligations in accordance with the Transaction Documents, whether heretofore or 
hereafter incurred.

Section 4Miscellaneous.

(a)Section headings in this Consent Letter are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of 
this Consent Letter for any other purposes.

(b)This Consent Letter may be executed with counterpart signature pages or in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed to be an original, but all such separate counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same agreement. In proving this Consent 
Letter or any other Transaction Document in any judicial proceedings, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 
counterpart signed by the party against whom such enforcement is sought.  Any signatures hereto delivered by electronic transmission shall be 
deemed an original signature hereto.

(c)No waiver or modification hereof or of any agreement referred to herein shall be binding or enforceable unless in writing and 
signed by all of the parties hereto or thereto.

(d)From and after the date on which this Consent Letter shall be effective, the term “Transaction Documents” in the Note and the 
other Note Documents shall include, without limitation, this Consent Letter and any agreements, instruments and other documents executed 
and/or delivered in connection herewith.

(e)THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF SECTION 9(D) (GOVERNING LAW) OF THE NOTE ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED 
HEREIN BY REFERENCE AND SHALL APPLY TO THIS CONSENT LETTER MUTATITIS MUTANDIS AS IF FULLY SET FORTH HEREIN.
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(f)The Company has agreed to reimburse Holder upon the execution of this Consent Letter for its reasonable and documented out-
of-pocket legal costs, fees and expenses actually incurred by the Holder in connection with this Consent Letter.

 [Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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Sincerely,

 
ORAMED PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

By: /s/ Nadav Kidron
Name: Nadav Kidron
Title:  CEO

By: /s/ Josh Hexter 
Name: Josh Hexter
Title:  COO

 
Address for Notice:
1185 Avenue of the Americas,
Third Floor
New York, NY 10036
Attn: Josh Hexter
Email: nadav@oramed.com
            josh@oramed.com
            david@oramed.com
 
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 
Proskauer Rose LLP
Eleven Times Square
New York, NY 10036
Attn: Ehud Barak; James Gerkis; Grant Darwin; Philip Kaminski
E-mail: ebarak@proskauer.com; jgerkis@proskauer.com; gdarwin@proskauer.com; 
pkaminski@proskauer.com
 

 
[Signature Page to Consent Letter]



 

SCILEX HOLDING COMPANY

By: /s/ Jaisim Shah

Name: Jaisim Shah
Title:     Chief Executive Officer and President

960 San Antonio Rd.
Palo Alto, CA 94303
Attention: Stephen Ma
Telephone: (408)891-8341
Email: sma@scilexholding.com
 
with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice) to:
 
Paul Hastings LLP
1117 S. California Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Attention: Elizabeth Razzano
Telephone: (650) 320-1895
Email: elizabethrazzano@paulhastings.com

[Signature Page to Consent Letter]



 

 
Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Jaisim Shah, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Scilex Holding Company;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

 
 

/s/ Jaisim Shah
Jaisim Shah
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
Dated: May 13, 2024
 



 

 
Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Stephen Ma, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Scilex Holding Company;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

 
/s/ Stephen Ma
Stephen Ma
Chief Financial Officer

 
Dated: May 13, 2024
 



 

 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE 
SARBARNES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
Each of the undersigned, in his or her capacity as the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of Scilex Holding Company (the 
“Company”), as the case may be, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002 that, to the best of his or her knowledge:
 
1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2024 (this “Quarterly Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”); and
 
2. The information contained in this Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company for the period covered by this Quarterly Report.
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or its staff upon request.
 
This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the 
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report), irrespective of any general 
incorporation language contained in such filing.
 
 
 
Date: May 13, 2024 /s/ Jaisim Shah
 Jaisim Shah

Chief Executive Officer and President 
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 
Date: May 13, 2024 /s/Stephen Ma
 Stephen Ma

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
 




